
Page 1 of 2 
 

AGENDA 

CITY COUNCIL OF THE  

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS 

2150 Universal City Blvd, Universal City, TX 78148 

Regular Meeting, Tuesday, August 3, 2021 @ 6:30 P.M. 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER: Mayor John Williams at 6:30 p.m. 
 

2. QUORUM CHECK: 
 

3. INVOCATION and PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 

4. VOTE TO CONSIDER THE EXCUSE OF ABSENT MAYOR/COUNCILMEMBERS (if applicable): 
 

5. AWARDS/PROCLAMA/INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS: 
 

6. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
TAB A:   All matters listed under this item are considered to be routine by City Council and will be enacted 

by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items.  If discussion is desired, that 
item will be removed from the consent agenda and considered separately. 

 
a) Consider City Council Minutes for the Tuesday, July 7, 2021 Budget Workshop and the 

Tuesday, July 20, 2021 Regular Meeting. 
b) Ordinance 632 (PC 548.A & 549.A) FLUP 2021: An Ordinance amending the City’s Future Land 

Use Plan to reclassify Orchard Park Subdivision, Units 1 & 2, 900-Series lots & Easement 
Parcels from AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-Open Space and residential lots from AC-Aviation 
Commercial to MDR-Medium Density Residential; providing for legislative findings in support 
thereof; providing for severability; and establishing an effective date. (2nd Reading). 

c) Ordinance 581-X-2021 (PC 548.B, PC 549.B, ZC 226 & ZC 227): An Ordinance amending the 
Zoning Classification of an approximately 42.5 Acre property from R1-Large Lot Residential to 
R3-Medium Density Residential for residential lots and R1-Large Lot Residential to OS-Open 
Space for 900-Series lots and easement parcels; providing for severability; and establishing an 
effective date. (2nd Reading). 

 
7. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD: This time is provided for citizens to address city council on issues or concerns and 

must be INFORMATIVE ONLY.  NO CITY COUNCIL DISCUSSION OR ACTION WILL BE TAKEN.  Please 
limit your comments to three minutes.  
 

8. BUSINESS: 

 

TAB B: Consider Resolution 922: A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Universal City, Texas, 

calling a Special Election to be held on Tuesday, November 2, 2021 to submit to the voters of the 

City of Universal City, Texas, a proposition to establish an Ad Valorem Tax Limitation for persons 

who are disabled or persons sixty-five (65) years of age or older; authorizing contracts with the 

Election Administrator of Bexar County and of Guadalupe County to conduct this election and 

procedures related thereto; and providing an Open Meetings clause. 

 

TAB C:   Discuss & Consider Ordinance 525-U-2021: An ordinance of the City Council of the City of 

Universal City, Texas repealing Ordinances 525 thru Ordinance 525-T-2019 (City Code of 

Ordinances Chapter 2-3, Section 2-3-1 thru Section 2-3-29) in their entirety and adopting new 

provisions regarding the collection and disposition of solid waste and recyclable material in the 

City; establishing a city-wide collection, transportation and disposal program; authorizing 

execution of a comprehensive agreement granting Waste Management of Texas, Inc. an exclusive 

franchise to operate a solid waste and collection disposal service in the City of Universal City, 



Page 2 of 2 
 

Texas; establishing penalties not to exceed $2000.00 per offense; providing that this ordinance 

shall be cumulative; providing for severability; and providing for an effective date. (1st Reading).  

 

TAB D: Consider the Financial Report for FY2021 Third Quarter (April 1 – June 30, 2021). 

9. CITY MANAGER’S COMMENTS: 

a) Dates and times of local meetings; 

b) Items for future council discussion or consideration; 

c) Status of city projects; 

d) Receipt of city awards; 

e) Recognition of citizen achievements. 
 

10. COUNCILMEMBERS’ COMMENTS: 
 

11. MAYOR’S COMMENTS: 
 

12. ADJOURN: 

All items on the agenda are eligible for possible discussion and action.  The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into 

executive session at any time during the course of this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by 

Texas Government Code Sections 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about Real Property), 551.073 

(Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations about Security Devices,) and 

551.086 (Economic Development). 

This facility is wheelchair accessible & accessible parking spaces are available. Request for accommodations or interpretive 
services must be made 72 hours prior to this meeting.  Please contact the city clerk’s office at (210) 619-0701 if these services 
are needed. 



MINUTES 

CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS 

Council Chambers, 2150 Universal City Blvd, Universal City, TX 

Special Meeting, Wednesday, July 7, 2021

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor John Williams at 5:00 P.M.

2. QUORUM CHECK:  Kristin Mueller, City Clerk

Present:
Mayor John Williams
Mayor Pro Tem Richard Neville

Councilmember Bear Goolsby
Councilmember Tom Maxwell
Councilmember Paul Najarian
Councilmember William Shelby
Councilmember Beverly Volle 

Present: 

Kim Turner, City Manager 

Manny Casarez, Fire Chief 

Michael Cassata, Development Services Director 

Susan Ennis, Library Director 

Sal Garcia, Golf Operations Director 

Jeremy Laak, Golf Superintendent 

Randy Luensmann, PW Director 

Jessica Moore, Finance Director 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk/Economic Dev Director 

Shana Palos, Finance Clerk 

Katie Rein, Food & Beverage Director 

Johnny Siemens, Police Chief 

Brenda Watkins, Court Administrator  

Mayor Williams noted a quorum was present. 

3. PURPOSE OF SPECIAL MEETING:  Workshop to Discuss the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget.

City Manager Kim Turner explained that this work session will cover anticipated revenues, debt

service, capital improvements, general fund expenditures, and the revenues/expenses for the three

enterprise funds (utilities, golf, and stormwater). In addition, the City’s consultant will present the

proposed 2022 water, wastewater, and stormwater rates.

Mrs. Turner introduced Grady Reed, Engineer with HDR, who presented the proposed water and

wastewater rates for Universal City. The proposed rate change for wastewater and for water is a 4%

increase in demand charge and a 4% increase in volume rate. That will result in an increase of

$3.06/month for a residential customer with 10,000 gals. of water use and 6,000 gals. of wastewater

use.

The proposed rate increase for stormwater is 5%. Mr. Reed reminded City Council that there was not

a stormwater rate increase last year. He stated that small rate increases, between 3% and 5%, is

likely to be needed in future years to generate additional revenue to curb deficit spending.

Mrs. Turner explained that revenues are unknown until the City receives the final property tax roll

from the Chief Appraiser’s office. However, both ad valorem tax and sales tax receipt for FY 2021

were much higher than anticipated. Additionally, property valuations went up an average of 8%

across the City and sales tax was up by about 6%. These factors were used to project revenues.

Finance Director Jessica Moore presented that the General Fund Revenues budget for FY 2022 is

$15,595,108 and forecasts $1,648,210 above the FY 2021 budget. Approximately 80% of General

Fund revenues are generated by Sales and Use Tax, and Property Tax. Mrs. Moore highlighted that

there is a net increase in the General Fund personnel budget of $1,243,444 from the FY2021 budget

because overtime and holiday pay is accurately budgeted in the FY 2022 budget and was not

accurately budgeted in FY 2021. Moving forward, all forms of employee compensation will be fully

represented in the general fund and the three restricted fund budgets to provide a truer reckoning of

payroll expenses. Furthermore, FY2022 budget also includes a 3% cost of living adjustment (COLA).

TAB A



FY2021 budget did not include a COLA. 

 

Mrs. Turner stated that no new debt will be issued for any capital improvement projects. Debt service 

payments will continue as planned unless the City’s financial advisor relates cost savings that be 

incurred through refinancing existing debt. Also, Mrs. Turner explained that the Capital Improvement 

Program shows a loss of just over $1.3 million dollars. Again, do not be alarmed. The East Aviation 

Road project is an MPO/TXDot project and the City is reimbursed for expenses as the project 

progresses. At this time, not all the reimbursements have been submitted back to Universal City and 

the project is not complete. Reimbursements will come in increments throughout 2021 and 2022 fiscal 

years and bring the balance to zero.  

 

Mrs. Turner presented the administration department budget. She mentioned that the FY2022 

General Fund budget is showing a loss of $684,777. She explained that much of the loss comes from 

the administrative budget for three reasons. First, staff is proposing to use $320,000 of restricted PEG 

Channel Funds to construct a building addition for a recording/editing studio. If the project moves 

forward, then the revenue from the PEG Channel Fund will be transferred into the General Fund 

Revenues to zero out the expense. Second, State law requires that the City Manager severance pay 

must be identified in every budget as a contingency expense; that contingency expense of $212,000 

is listed in the administration budget. Third, a ‘true’ comprehensive plan has not been created for 

Universal City for the last 16 years. The administration budget includes $150,000 for that project 

should additional revenues be received during the year; if not, then the project will be postponed for 

future budget cycles.  

 

Additionally, Mrs. Turner stated that some line-items have been reclassified to provide clarity to the 

budget process and expenditure tracking. For example, the City’s technology vendors were classified 

as “other contract services” but are now identified in the budget as “technology services”. Also, some 

administrative services that cut across all General Fund departments have been removed from the 

individual departments and placed in the administration budget. For instance, in the past, every 

department had a line item for “cellphones/pagers”. Now, all cellphone/pagers are in the 

administration budget. The goal is one administrator, one vendor, one payment, one bill. 

 

Mrs. Turner stated that in the past, the City Manger and Finance Director had presented the entire 

budget to the public and to City Council. At this work session, each department head gave an 

overview of their budget highlights and answered questions accordingly.  

 

After the presentation of the General Fund, the Mayor called for a 10-minute recess at 7:00 PM. 

 

At 7:14PM, the meeting reconvened.  

 

The FY2022 proposed budgets were presented as follows: 

 

Fund Revenues Expenditures 

General Fund $15,595,108 $16,279,885 

Debt Service $  2,175,494 $  2,145,119 

Capital Improvements Program $  3,937,391 $ 5,295,016 

Utility Fund $11,137,160 $11,278,466 

Stormwater $  1,094,650 $  1,095,730 

Golf Course $  2,548,700 $  2,755,234 

 

Mrs. Turner thanked the Department Heads for presenting their budgets. She explained that there 

may be changes made to the budgets based off the revenue numbers that the City will receive from 

the County later in July and reminded that there will still be the public hearings and votes for the tax 

rate and proposed budgets at upcoming council  meetings.  

 

 

4. ADJOURNMENT:  There being no objection, Mayor Williams adjourned the workshop at  

 8:16 p.m. 



 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_____________________________   ___________________________________ 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk     John Williams, Mayor 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS 

Regular Meeting, Tuesday, July 20, 2021 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor John Williams at 6:34 P.M. 
 
2. QUORUM CHECK:  Kristin Mueller, City Clerk 
  

Present: 
Mayor John Williams, arrived at 6:40 P.M. 
Mayor Pro Tem Richard Neville 
Councilmember Bear Goolsby 
Councilmember Tom Maxwell  
Councilmember Paul Najarian 
Councilmember William Shelby 

  Councilmember Beverly Volle 
 
 Mayor Pro Tem Neville noted a quorum was present. 
 
3. INVOCATION:   Councilmember Shelby gave the invocation.  
 
4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE U.S. AND TEXAS FLAG: Led by Mayor Pro Tem Neville 
 
5. VOTE TO CONSIDER THE EXCUSE OF ABSENT MAYOR/COUNCILMEMBERS: 
 
 No action was necessary; Mayor Pro Tem Neville mentioned that Mayor Williams was running 
 behind but will be walking in any minute. 
 
6. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS CITY COUNCIL MEETING: 
  

Councilmember Shelby moved to approve the minutes of the Tuesday, July 6, 2021 City Council 
regular meeting. Councilmember Maxwell seconded the motion.   
 

 Vote:   Yeas: Shelby, Maxwell, Neville, Goolsby, Najarian, Volle 
   Nays: None  

 
   Motion to approve carried.  
 
7. CITIZENS TO BE HEARD:  
 

- Bill Ferrato, 13319 Demeter, reiterated that he still has an issue with his neighbors outdoor 
lighting shining into his home. He feels that code enforcement is failing to enforce code and  
would still like the issue resolved.  

 
Mayor Williams arrived at 6:40 P.M.  

 
8. AWARDS/PROCLAMATION/INTRODUCTION OF GUESTS:  
 
 Mayor Williams presented Todd Perna, Universal City Fire Marshall, with the Schertz Partnership 
 Award, extending the City of Schertz gratitude for Universal City’s assistance with COVID-19 
 vaccination clinics.  

Present: 

Kim Turner, City Manager 

Matthew Longoria, City Attorney 

Michael Cassata, Development Services Director 

Randy Luensmann, Public Works Director 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk/Economic Dev Director 

Todd Perna, Fire Marshall 

 



 
9. BUSINESS: 
 
 A. Consider Bid Acceptance of the CDBG West Byrd Phase 2 Drainage Improvements. 
 
  Public Works Director Randy Luensmann explained that the scope of the project included the 

reconstruction of 3,300 SY of Parkview Drive and the installation of a storm drain, and curb 
inlets, driveway aprons, curbs and a residential sidewalk on the west side of Parkview drive 
between the intersections of West Byrd to Hillview Drive. He said that the bid was advertised, 
and they received a total of four responsive bids. Staff recommends awarding the bid to the 
lowest responsive responsible bidder,  R.L. Rohde General Contracting in the amount of 
$397,026.99 for the base bid; and $36,121.10 for Add Alternate #1, and $55,957.00 for Add 
Alternate #2; for a total bid amount of $443,173.92 for the West Byrd Phase 2 Drainage 
Improvements.  

 
  Councilmember Maxwell moved to accept the bid from R.L. Rohde General Contracting in the 

amount of $443,173.92 for the West Byrd Phase 2 Drainage Improvements. Councilmember 
Najarian seconded the motion.  

 
   Vote:  Yeas: Maxwell, Najarian, Neville, Goolsby, Shelby, Volle 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 
 
 B. Consider Resolution 915: A Resolution by the City of Universal City, Texas (“City”) authorizing 

the City to participate as part of a coalition of cities in proceedings to be held by the railroad 
commission of Texas related to implementation of House Bill 1520; authorizing the hiring of 
attorneys and consultants; directing the activities of lawyers and consultants regarding the 
Railroad Commission’s HB 1520 proceedings; requiring reimbursement of reasonable legal and 
consultant expenses to extent allowed by law; finding that the meeting complies with the 
Open Meetings Act; and making other findings and provisions related to the subject. 

 
  City Manager Kim Turner stated that Texas State legislature has provided a means for gas 

companies to issue bonds to pay off the debt that incurred in the gas market during the recent 
winter storm that crippled all of Texas. The legislation allows that debt issued by CenterPoint to 
be paid by a rate increase for each of its customers. Approving Resolution 915 would allow the 
City to participate in a coalition of cities, represented Herrera Law & Associates, to fight the 
implementation of HB1520 and to be present as Universal City’s official representative during 
the Railroad Commission’s proceedings and file any required paperwork on behalf of the City.  

 
Councilmember Maxwell moved to approve Resolution 915. Councilmember Shelby seconded 
the motion.   

 
   Vote:  Yeas: Maxwell, Shelby, Neville, Goolsby, Najarian, Volle 
               Nays: Goolsby 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 

 
C. PUBLIC HEARING on PC 548.A & 549.A – a request for amendments to the Future Land Use 

Plan to reclassify Orchard Park Subdivision, Units 1 & 2, 900-Series lots & Easement Parcels 



from AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-Open Space and residential lots from AC-Aviation 
Commercial to MDR-Medium Density Residential. 

 
 Mrs. Turner explained that when Orchard Park was first annexed, the entire development was 

zoned R1-Large Lot Residential, a perfunctory designation. However, per the Development 
Agreement and both Plats of Subdivision, the residential lots are to be classified as R3-Medium 
Density Residential and the open space lots and easement parcels classified as OS-Open Space. 
The proposed FLUP and zoning amendments would complete the City’s original intent related to 
the annexation and development of the Orchard Park Subdivision.  

 
 The proposed FLUP change would be to change the residential lots from AC-Aviation 

Commercial to MDR-Medium Density Residential and to change the 900-Series lots and 
easement parcels from AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-Open Space. 

 
 Mayor Williams opened the Public Hearing at 6:55 P.M. 
 
 There being no public comments, Mayor Williams closed the Public Hearing at 6:56 P.M. 

 
D. Discuss & Consider Ordinance 632 (PC 548.A & 549.A) FLUP 2021: An Ordinance amending 

the City’s Future Land Use Plan to reclassify Orchard Park Subdivision, Units 1 & 2, 900-Series 
lots & Easement Parcels from AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-Open Space and residential lots 
from AC-Aviation Commercial to MDR-Medium Density Residential; providing for legislative 
findings in support thereof; providing for severability; and establishing an effective date. (1st 
Reading). 

 
 Councilmember Shelby moved to approve Ordinance 632 (PC 548.A & 549.A) FLUP 2021. 

Mayor Pro Tem Neville seconded the motion.    
 

   Vote:  Yeas: Shelby, Neville, Goolsby, Maxwell, Najarian, Volle 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 
 

E. PUBLIC HEARING on PC 548.B (ZC 226) & 549.B (ZC 227) – a request for amendments to the 
Zoning Map and Zoning Ordinance 581 to reclassify Orchard Park Subdivision, Units 1 & 2, 
900-Series lots & Easement Parcels from R1-Large Lot Residential to OS-Open Space and 
residential lots from R1-Large Lot Residential to R3-Medium Density Residential. 

 
Mayor Williams opened the Public Hearing at 6:59 P.M. 
 
There being no public comment, Mayor Williams closed the Public Hearing at 7: 00 P.M. 
 

 F. Discuss & Consider Ordinance 581-X-2021 (PC 548.B, PC 549.B, ZC 226 & ZC 227): An 
Ordinance amending the Zoning Classification of an approximately 42.5 Acre property from 
R1-Large Lot Residential to R3-Medium Density Residential for residential lots and R1-Large 
Lot Residential to OS-Open Space for 900-Series lots and easement parcels; providing for 
severability; and establishing an effective date. (2nd Reading).  

 
  Councilmember Shelby moved to approve Ordinance 581-X-2021 (PC 548.B, PC 549.B, ZC 226 & 

227). Mayor Pro Tem Neville seconded the motion.  
 



   Vote:  Yeas: Shelby, Neville, Goolsby, Maxwell, Najarian, Volle 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 
 
 G. Discuss & Consider Appointments to the City’s Boards & Commissions. 
 
  Councilmember Shelby recused himself from voting and stepped out of the room.  
 
  Mayor Pro Tem Neville moved to approve the following appointments for the 2021-2023 term: 
 
   Board of Adjustments/Appeals: Bill Fitzpatrick, John Hudson, Chuck Consla, Roger Pritt 
   Board of Adjustment/Appeals Alternates: Roberta Castano, Elizabeth Dixon 
   Golf & Conference Center Committee: Robert Barnhardt, George “Les” Bourne 
   Library Advisory Commission: Catherine Huston, Mary Quandt 
   Planning & Zoning Commission: Zachary Carlton, Christina Fitzpatrick, Ronald Jackson,  
       Sheila Garcia 
   Parks and Recreation Commission: Alexis Adams, Janet Tennis 
 
  Councilmember Maxwell seconded the motion.  
 
   Vote:  Yeas: Neville, Maxwell, Goolsby, Najarian, Volle 
               Nays: None 
         Recused: Shelby 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 
 
  Councilmember Shelby reentered the room at 7:04 P.M. 
 
 H. Closed Session pursuant to Tex. Gov’t Code Sec. 551.072 regarding the purchase and value of 

real property if deliberation in open session would have a detrimental effect on the position 
of the corporation in negotiations with a third party; and for attorney consultation pursuant 
to Sec. 551.071(2); regarding the following properties located at the listed addresses and 
within the City of Universal City: 

a. 118 East Langley Blvd. 
b. 406 Bowie 
c. 408 Bowie 
d. 202 E. Langley Blvd. 
e. 208 E. Langley Blvd. 
f. 110 E. Wright 

 
  Mayor Williams convened into Closed Session with City Council, City Manager Kim Turner,  
  Economic Development Director Kristin Mueller, and City Attorney Matthew Longoria at 7:05  
  P.M. 
  
 I. Reconvene in Open Session. 
 
  Mayor Williams reconvened into Open Session at 7:30 P.M. and announced that no action was  
  taken in the Closed Session.  
 



 J. Consideration and appropriate action, if any, regarding Resolution 916 authorizing the  
  Universal City Economic Development Corporation’s purchase of real property located at 118  
  East Langley Blvd. 
 
  Councilmember Maxwell moved to approve Resolution 916. Councilmember Shelby seconded  
  the motion.  
 
   Vote:  Yeas: Maxwell, Shelby, Neville, Goolsby, Najarian, Volle 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 
 
 K. Consideration and appropriate action, if any, regarding Resolution 917 authorizing the  

 Universal City Economic Development Corporation’s purchase of real property located at 406 
 Bowie. 

 
   Councilmember Najarian moved to approve Resolution 917. Councilmember Maxwell seconded 

 the motion.  
 
    Vote:  Yeas: Najarian, Maxwell, Neville, Goolsby, Shelby, Volle 
                          Nays: None 
 
    Motion to approve carried. 
 

 L. Consideration and appropriate action, if any, regarding Resolution 918 authorizing the 
Universal City Economic Development Corporation’s purchase of real property located at 408 
Bowie. 

 
  Councilmember Shelby moved to approve Resolution 918. Councilmember Volle seconded the 

motion.  
 

   Vote:  Yeas: Shelby, Volle, Neville, Goolsby, Najarian, Maxwell 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 

 
 M. Consideration and appropriate action, if any, regarding Resolution 919 authorizing the 

Universal City Economic Development Corporation’s purchase of real property located at 202 
East Langley Blvd. 

 
  Councilmember Najarian moved to approve Resolution 919. Councilmember Shelby seconded 

the motion.  
 

   Vote:  Yeas: Najarian, Shelby, Neville, Goolsby, Maxwell, Volle 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 

 
 N. Consideration and appropriate action, if any, regarding Resolution 920 authorizing the 

Universal City Economic Development Corporation’s purchase of real property located at 208 
East Langley Blvd. 



  Councilmember Shelby moved to approve Resolution 920. Councilmember Maxwell seconded 
the motion.  

 
   Vote:  Yeas: Shelby, Maxwell, Neville, Goolsby, Najarian, Volle 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 

 
 O. Consideration and appropriate action, if any, regarding Resolution 921 authorizing the 

Universal City Economic Development Corporation’s purchase of real property located at 110 
E. Wright. 

 
  Councilmember Volle moved to approve resolution 921. Councilmember Shelby seconded the 

motion.  
 

   Vote:  Yeas: Volle, Shelby, Neville, Goolsby, Najarian, Maxwell 
               Nays: None 
 
   Motion to approve carried. 
 

10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS: 
 
 Mrs. Turner: 
 
 1. Announced Assistant Police Chief Bill Gabbard will be retiring on December 31, 2021; 
 2. Informed that she will be signing a contract for the City to purchase more water rights; 

3. Mentioned that the City has completed its application for the Texas Department of Emergency 
Management Application and SAM.gov application so that it is eligible to receive its first ARPA 
funding allocation of $2.5M in approximately 30 days; and 

4. Revealed that the new hotel is looking to open in October or November of this year.  
   
 

12. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS:  

Councilmember Shelby suggested that the light pollution ordinance be reviewed to see if it 
accomplishes the spirit of the law. 
 
Councilmember Najarian mentioned that he regretted that he missed Casino Night.    
 
Councilmember Maxwell made no comments.  
 
Councilmember Neville made no comments. 
 
Councilmember Goolsby made no comments. 
 
Councilmember Volle made no comments.  

 
13. MAYORAL COMMENTS:  

 
Mayor Williams: 
 



1. Said that he attended the Military Transportation Taskforce meeting in the newly renovated San 
Antonio City Hall; 

2. Informed of Colonel Reimer’s visitation and funeral schedule as well as invited councilmembers 
to attend a Celebration of Life event for Colonel Reimer on Friday; and 

3. Apologized for running late. He said in his 19 years as Mayor, he has never missed a meeting. 
 

14.   ADJOURNMENT:  Mayor Williams adjourned the meeting at 7:40 P.M.  
 
 
 
ATTEST: _____________________________ 
         John Williams, Mayor 
 
___________________________    
     Kristin Mueller, City Clerk  



ORDINANCE NO. 632 (PC 548.A & 549.A) FLUP 2021 

     (Orchard Park Subdivision) 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY’S FUTURE LAND USE PLAN; PROVIDING 

FOR LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS IN SUPPORT THEREOF; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY; AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Sections 4-5-24 of the Code of Ordinances, City Council may 

approve an application for a Future Land Use Plan Amendment based upon changed or changing 

conditions in a particular area or in the City generally, or to rezone an area, or to extend the 

boundary of an existing zoning district; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chapter 213.003 of the Texas Local Government Code provides that the City may 

amend the City’s comprehensive plan by ordinance following a public hearing at which the 

public is given the opportunity to give testimony and present written evidence and review by the 

City’s Planning and Zoning Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, Meritage Homes of Texas, LLC requested a change in zoning classification for an 

approximately 42.5-acre property from AC-Aviation Commercial to MDR-Medium Density 

Residential for the residential lots on the property and AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-Open 

Space for the 900-Series lot and easement parcels on the property, which would require 

amendments to the City’s Future Land Use Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, after proper delivery of notice, the Planning and Zoning Commission conducted a 

public hearing on the application for the Future Land Use Plan Amendment on July 12, 2021 where 

the public had the opportunity to provide testimony and written evidence regarding the proposed 

amendments to the City’s Future Land Use Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the conclusion of the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission made 

recommendations in favor of the application for the Future Land Use Plan Amendments; and 

 

WHEREAS, after proper publication of notice and receipt of the Planning and Zoning 

Commission’s recommendation, City Council conducted a public hearing on the application for 

the Future Land Use Plan Amendments on July 20, 2021 during which the public was provided 

another opportunity to give testimony and written evidence for or against the proposed 

amendments to the Future Land Use Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, after considering all of the testimony and written evidence provided by the public as 

well as the recommendation made by the Planning and Zoning Commission, the City Council finds 

that the proposed amendments to the Future Land Use Plan are commensurate with the overall 

vision and growth plan of the City and are in the best interest of the City of Universal City; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City has complied with all conditions precedent necessary to take this action, has 

properly noticed and conducted all public hearings and public meetings pursuant to the Texas 

Local Government Code and Texas Government Code, as applicable. 

 

 



Page 2 of 3 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1.  Recitals. The recitals set out above are adopted herein for all purposes.  

 

SECTION 2. The Property.  The real property (“Property”) subject to the amendments 

authorized by this Ordinance is an approximate 42.5-acre parcel, more or less, legally described 

on Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, located in Universal City, Guadalupe County, Texas. 

 

SECTION 3. Future Land Use Plan Amendments. The Future Land Use Plan is hereby 

amended by revising the Future Land Use of the Property from AC-Aviation Commercial to MDR-

Medium Density Residential for the residential lots on the property, as described in Exhibit “A”, 

and AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-Open Space for the 900-Series lot and easement parcels on 

the property, as described in Exhibit “A”. 

 

SECTION 4. Map Revision.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to revise the 

Future Land Use Plan map and take all other steps reasonably necessary to facilitate the purpose 

of this ordinance. 

 

SECTION 5. Continuation clause.  All provisions of the Future Land Use Plan and Code of 

Ordinances of the City of Universal City not herein amended or repealed shall remain in full force 

and effect. 

 

SECTION 6.  Repealer clause.  All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are hereby repealed to the extent that they are in conflict. 

 

SECTION 7. Severability clause.  If any provisions of this ordinance shall be held void or 

unconstitutional, it is hereby provided that all other parts of the same which are not held void or 

unconstitutional shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

SECTION 8. This Ordinance shall be construed shall be construed and enforced in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Texas and the United States of America. 

 

SECTION 9. It is officially found, determined, and declared that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance is adopted was open to the public and public notice of the time, place, and subject matter 

of the public business to be considered at such meeting, including this Ordinance, was given, all 

as required by Chapter 551, as amended, Texas Government Code. 

 

SECTION 10.  Effective Date.  This ordinance will take effect upon its passage, approval and 

publication as provided by law. 

 

PASSED, on first reading by the City Council of the City of Universal City on this the 20th day 

of July 2021. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED, on second reading by the City Council of the City of Universal 

City on this the 3rd day of August 2021. 

 

 

 



Page 3 of 3 

 

       UNIVERSAL CITY 

       

                                              ______________________________ 

       John Williams, Mayor 

 

Attest:      Approved as to form: 

     

_________________________   _______________________________ 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk    Matthew J. Longoria, City Attorney 

 



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 581-X-2021 (PC 548.B, PC 549.B, ZC 226 & ZC227) 

     (Orchard Park Subdivision) 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING CLASSIFICATION OF AN 

APPROXIMATELY 42.5-ACRE PROPERTY FROM R1—LARGE LOT 

RESIDENTIAL TO R3-MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL FOR RESIDENTIAL 

LOTS AND R1-LARGE LOT RESIDENTIAL TO OS-OPEN SPACE FOR 900-SERIES 

LOTS & EASEMENT PARCELS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND 

ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Sections 4-5-24 and 4-5-31 of the Code of Ordinances, City 

Council may approve an application for an Official Zoning Map Amendment based upon changed 

or changing conditions in a particular area or in the City generally, or to rezone an area, or to 

extend the boundary of an existing zoning district; and  

 

WHEREAS, Chapter 211.003 of the Texas Local Government Code provides that the City 

Council may regulate the height, number of stories, size of buildings, percentage of a lot that 

may be occupied, the size of yards, courts, and other open spaces, population density, the 

location and use of buildings, and land for business; and  

 

WHEREAS, Chapter 211.004 of the Texas Local Government Code provides that zoning 

regulations must be adopted in accordance with a Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, Chapter 211.006 of the Texas Local Government Code provides the procedures 

that the City Council must follow to exercise the authority relating to zoning regulations and 

zoning district boundaries; and  

 

WHEREAS, as further described in Sections Two, Three, and Four of this Ordinance, Meritage 

Homes of Texas, LLC, has submitted an application for Zoning Map Amendments for an 

approximately 42.5-acre property known as Orchard Park Subdivision located in Universal City, 

Guadalupe County, Texas; and 

 

WHEREAS, after proper publication of notice and receipt of the Planning and Zoning 

Commission’s recommendation, City Council conducted a public hearing on the application for 

the Future Land Use Plan Amendments on July 20, 2021 during which the public was provided an 

opportunity to give testimony and written evidence for or against the proposed amendments to the 

Future Land Use Plan; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the conclusion of the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission made 

recommendations in favor of the application for the Future Land Use Plan Amendments; and 

 

WHEREAS, after proper delivery of notice, the Planning and Zoning Commission conducted a 

public hearing on the application for the Zoning Map Amendments on July 20, 2021 during which 

parties in interest and citizens had an opportunity to be heard on the matter; and 

 



Page 2 of 3 

 

WHEREAS, at the conclusion of the public hearing, the Planning and Zoning Commission made 

a recommendation in favor of the application for the Zoning Map Amendments; and  

  

WHEREAS, after proper publication of notice and receipt of the Planning and Zoning 

Commission’s recommendation, the City Council conducted a public hearing on the application 

for the Zoning Map Amendments on July 20, 2021 during which parties in interest and citizens 

had another opportunity to be heard on the matter; and 

 

WHEREAS, after conducting a public hearing on the matter where parties in interest and citizens 

had an opportunity to be heard, and considering all of the testimony and written evidence provided 

by the public as well as the recommendation made by the Planning and Zoning Commission, the 

City Council finds the zoning amendments are in accordance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan 

for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, morals and general welfare of the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has complied with all conditions precedent necessary to take this action, has 

properly noticed and conducted all public hearings and public meetings pursuant to the Texas 

Local Government Code and Texas Government Code, as applicable. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1.  Recitals. The recitals set out above are adopted herein for all purposes.  

 

SECTION 2. The Property. The real property (“Property”) subject to the amendments 

authorized by this Ordinance is an approximate 42.5-acre parcel, more or less, legally described 

on Exhibit “A”, attached hereto, located in Universal City, Guadalupe County, Texas.  

 

SECTION 3. The Zoning Map Amendment. The City’s Official Zoning Map is hereby 

amended by revising the Zoning Classification of the Property shown on the Zoning Map from 

AC-Aviation Commercial to MDR-Medium Density Residential for the residential lots on the 

property, as described in Exhibit “A”, and AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-Open Space for the 

900-Series lot and easement parcels on the property, as described in Exhibit “A”. 

 

SECTION 4. Map Revision.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to revise the 

Official Zoning map and take all other steps reasonably necessary to facilitate the purpose of this 

ordinance. 

 

SECTION 5.  Continuation clause.  All provisions of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Universal City not herein amended or repealed shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

SECTION 6.  Repealer clause.  All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are hereby repealed to the extent that they are in conflict. 

 

SECTION 7. Severability clause.  If any provisions of this ordinance shall be held void or 

unconstitutional, it is hereby provided that all other parts of the same which are not held void or 

unconstitutional shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

SECTION 8. This Ordinance shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the 

State of Texas and the United States of America. 



Page 3 of 3 

 

 

SECTION 9. It is officially found, determined, and declared that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance is adopted was open to the public and public notice of the time, place, and subject matter 

of the public business to be considered at such meeting, including this Ordinance, was given, all 

as required by Chapter 551, as amended, Texas Government Code. 

 

SECTION 10.  Effective Date.  This ordinance will take effect upon its passage, approval and 

publication as provided by law. 

 

PASSED, on first reading by the City Council of the City of Universal City on this the 20th day 

of July 2021. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED, on second reading by the City Council of the City of Universal 

City on this the 3rd day of August 2021. 

 

       UNIVERSAL CITY 

       

                                              ______________________________ 

       John Williams, Mayor 

 

Attest:      Approved as to form: 

     

_________________________   _______________________________ 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk    Matthew J. Longoria, City Attorney 



EXHIBIT “A” 

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY 
 

ORCHARD PARK SUBDIVISION 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTIONS 
 

 

ORCHARD PARK – UNIT 1 
 

1. 900-SERIES LOTS:  
LOTS 901, BLOCK 3 (0.138 ACRES), 901, BLOCK 1 (0.636 ACRES) AND 903, BLOCK 2 
(1.904 ACRES), ORCHARD PARK SUBDIVISION, UNIT 1, IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL 
CITY, GUADALUPE COUNTY, TEXAS, ACCORDING TO THE MAP OR PLAT THEREOF 
RECORDED IN VOLUME 9, PAGES 369-371, PLAT RECORDS OF GUADALUPE COUNTY, 
TEXAS. 
 

2. RESIDENTIAL LOTS:  
ALL LOTS WITHIN ORCHARD PARK SUBDIVISION, UNIT 1 (22.510 ACRES) LESS AND 
EXCEPT COMMERCIAL LOT 1A, BLOCK 2 (2.487 ACRES); AND OPEN SPACE LOTS 901, 
BLOCK 3 (0.138 ACRES), 901, BLOCK 1 (0.636 ACRES), AND 903, BLOCK 2 (1.904 ACRES), 
IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, GUADALUPE COUNTY, TEXAS, ACCORDING TO THE 
MAP OR PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 9, PAGES 369-371, PLAT RECORDS OF 
GUADALUPE COUNTY, TEXAS. 
 
 
 

ORCHARD PARK – UNIT 2 
 

1. 900-SERIES LOTS:  
LOTS 901, BLOCK 5 (2.961 ACRES), 902, BLOCK 3 (0.1 06 ACRES) AND 903, BLOCK 3 
(2.359 ACRES), ORCHARD PARK SUBDIVISION, UNIT 2, IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL 
CITY, GUADALUPE COUNTY, TEXAS, ACCORDING TO THE MAP OR PLAT THEREOF 
RECORDED IN VOLUME 9, PAGES 481-482, PLAT RECORDS OF GUADALUPE COUNTY, 
TEXAS. 
 

2. EASEMENT PARCELS:  
PARCEL "A": A 0.506 ACRE VARIABLE WIDTH DRAINAGE AND SANITARY SEWER 
EASEMENT MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED IN EXHIBITS "A-1" & "A-2" AND PARCEL 
"8": A0.136ACRE VARIABLE WIDTH ACCESS EASEMENT MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED IN EXHIBITS "B-1" & "B-2': EXHIBITS ATTACHED HERETO AND MADE A 
PART HEREOF FOR ALL PURPOSES; ALL IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, 
GUADALUPE COUNTY, TEXAS. 
 

3. RESIDENTIAL LOTS:  
ALL LOTS WITHIN ORCHARD PARK SUBDIVISION, UNIT 2 (21.874 ACRES) LESS AND 
EXCEPT LOTS 901, BLOCK 5 (2.961 ACRES}, 902, BLOCK 3 (0.106 ACRES) AND 903, 
BLOCK 3 (2.359 ACRES), IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS, ACCORDING TO THE 
MAP OR PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN VOLUME 9, PAGES481-482, PLAT RECORDS OF 
GUADALUPE COUNTY, TEXAS.          



Motion to Approve – FLUP: 

PC 548.A & 549.A  

After conducting a public hearing on the request for amendments to the Future Land 

Use Plan for the Orchard Park Subdivision, Units 1 & 2, and receiving the Planning and 

Zoning Commission’s recommendation, City Council has considered the request and 

moves to approve PC 548.A & 549.A and the amendments to the Future Land Use Plan 

for the 900-Series lots and Easement Parcels from AC-Aviation Commercial to OS-

Open Space and residential lots from AC-Aviation Commercial to MDR-Medium Density 

Residential without conditions. 

 

Motion to Approve – Zone Change: 

PC 548.B (ZC 226) & 549.B (ZC 227) 

After conducting a public hearing on the request for amendments to the Zoning Map for 

the Orchard Park Subdivision, Units 1 & 2, and receiving the Planning and Zoning 

Commission’s recommendation, City Council has considered the request and moves to 

approve PC 548.B & 549.B and the amendments to the Zoning Map for the 900-Series 

lots and Easement Parcels from R1-Large Lot Residential to OS-Open Space and 

residential lots from R1-Large Lot Residential to R3-Medium Density Residential without 

conditions. 

 

 



RESOLUTION NO. 922 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, 

TEXAS, CALLING A SPECIAL ELECTION TO BE HELD ON TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 

2, 2021  TO SUBMIT TO THE VOTERS OF THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS 

A PROPOSITION TO ESTABLISH AN  AD VALOREM TAX LIMITATION FOR 

PERSONS WHO ARE DISABLED OR PERSONS SIXTY-FIVE (65) YEARS OF AGE OR 

OLDER; AUTHORIZING CONTRACTS WITH THE ELECTION ADMINISTRATOR OF 

BEXAR COUNTY AND OF GUADALUPE COUNTY TO CONDUCT THIS ELECTION 

AND PROCEDURES RELATED THERETO; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS 

CLAUSE. 

WHEREAS, while generally the Texas Constitution requires that taxation be “equal and 

uniform,” and that property be “taxed in proportion to its value,” Article VIII, section 1-b(h) 

of the Texas Constitution authorizes certain governmental entities that impose an ad valorem 

tax to limit increases of the total amount of the tax on the homesteads of persons with 

disabilities or persons sixty-five years of age or older known colloquially as a “tax freeze.” 

Tex. Const. art. VIII, § 1(a)-(b); and 

WHEREAS, Texas Constitution, Article VIII, section 1-b(h) provides that on receipt of a 

petition signed by five percent (5%) of the registered voters of the city, the governing body 

of the city shall call an election to determine by majority vote whether to establish a tax 

limitation provided by that subsection; and 

WHEREAS, Texas Constitution, Article VIII, section 1-b(h) further provides that the 

governing body of a city may not repeal or rescind a tax limitation established under that 

subsection; and 

WHEREAS, Texas Constitution Article VIII, section 1-b(h) authorizes the City Council to 

call an election to adopt a tax freeze for persons who are disabled or who are sixty-five of age 

or older, but that once a tax freeze is adopted it may not be repealed by an election called 

pursuant to a petition of the city’s voters; and 

WHEREAS, an initiative petition was filed in the office of the City Clerk of the City of 

Universal City on April 1, 2021, from duly registered voters of the City of Universal City, 

Texas, styled: “We, the undersigned qualified voters of the City of Universal City, Texas, in 

accordance with Chapter 277 of the Texas Election Code, hereby petition the City Council of 

the City of Universal City, Texas to call an election to determine by majority vote whether to 

establish an ad valorem tax limitation for seniors and the disabled.”; and 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk of the City of Universal City certified that the number of valid 

signatures on the filed petition was 851, or 7% of the registered and qualified voters for the 

City of Universal City, Texas; and  

WHEREAS, the filed petition was certified by the City Clerk on April 21, 2021, and was 

received by the City Council at the regular City Council Meeting duly held on May 18, 2021; 

and 

WHEREAS, it is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 

TAB B



Resolution was passed was open to the public, and public notice of the time, place and 

purpose of said meeting was given, all as required by Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, 

as amended; and 

 

WHEREAS, as the laws of the State of Texas and the Universal City Charter require that a 

City election shall be held, the City Council of the City of Universal City, Texas (the “City”), 

deems it desirable to call the elections hereinafter ordered. 

 

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS, THAT: 

 

Section one. JOINT ELECTION:  A Municipal Election is ordered to be held in the City of 

Universal City, Texas on November 2, 2021, and such Election shall be held jointly with the 

Bexar County Election Administrator and the Guadalupe County Election Administrator, 

pursuant to the Joint Elections Agreements.  The City Manager is authorized to sign the Joint 

Election Agreement and related contract documents necessary to effect said election. 

 

Section two. ELECTION DATE, ELECTION PRECINCTS, and POLLING PLACES:  Said 

election shall be held on 02 November 2021 between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. in 

the election precincts and polling places designated by the Bexar County Elections 

Administrator for Bexar County residents and the Guadalupe County Elections Administrator 

for Guadalupe County residents. Such date being a uniform election date as defined in Texas 

Election Code § 41.001, as amended. 

 

Section three. EARLY VOTING: Early voting shall be conducted by personal appearance 

and by mail.   

 

Early voting by personal appearance will begin on October 18, 2021.  Early voting by 

personal appearance shall be held for all precincts in the locations and times designated by 

the Bexar County Elections Administrator (“Exhibit A”) and the Guadalupe County 

Elections Administrator (“Exhibit B”). 

 

Early voting by mail for Bexar County residents shall be through the Bexar County Elections 

Administrator, 103 S. Frio Suite 100 San Antonio, TX 78207.  The Early Voting Clerk for 

said election shall be Jacquelyn F. Callanan, Bexar County Elections Administrator. 

 

Early voting by mail for Guadalupe County residents shall be through the Guadalupe County 

Elections Administrator, 215 S. Milam, Seguin, Texas 78155. The Early Voting Clerk for 

said election shall be Lisa Hayes, Guadalupe County Elections Administrator. 

 

Section four.  ELECTION OFFICER.  The Election Officer shall be the point of contact for 

the Bexar County Elections Administrator and the Guadalupe County Elections 

Administrator relating to the Universal City Special Election for the purposes of ballot 

proofing and approval, receipt of early voting and Election Day information, final election 

returns and for any other function necessary for the Bexar County Elections Administrator to 

effect the City’s election.  The Election Officer shall be Kristin Mueller, City Clerk of the 

City of Universal City. 

 

Section five. QUALIFIED VOTERS.  All resident, qualified electors of the City shall be 



entitled to vote in said election. 

 

 

Section six. OFFICIAL PROPOSITION.  At said election the following 

PROPOSITION B shall be submitted in accordance with law: 

 

PROPOSITION B 

 
"Shall the City of Universal City, Texas be authorized to 
provide that for a person who is disabled or is sixty-five 
(65) years of age or older that the total amount of ad valorem 
taxes imposed on that homestead by the city may not be 
increased while it remains the residence homestead of that 
person or that person's spouse who is disabled or sixty-five 
(65) years of age or older pursuant to Texas constitution 

Article VIII, Section 1-b?” 

 

Section seven. FORM OF BALLOT: The official ballots for said election shall be prepared 

in accordance with the Texas Election Code to permit the electors to vote “FOR” or 

“AGAINST” the aforesaid PROPOSITION B, and with such PROPOSITION B to be 

expressed substantially as follows: 

 

 FOR 

 

Authorizing the City of Universal City, Texas, to provide that for a 

person who is disabled or is sixty-five (65) years of age or older that the 

total amount of ad valorem taxes imposed on that homestead by the city 

may not be increased while it remains the residence homestead of that 

person or that person's spouse who is disabled or sixty-five (65) years of 

age or older pursuant to Texas constitution Article VIII, Section 1-b. 

 AGAINST 

 

 

Section nine. ORDER AND NOTICE.  The Mayor shall issue all necessary orders, writs and 

notices for said election in accordance with the Texas Election Code. 

 

Section ten. BILINGUAL ELECTION MATERIALS.  All election materials (including 

notice of election, ballots, and forms which voters may be required to sign) shall be printed in 

both English and Spanish, as required by the Texas Election Code and the Federal Voting 

Right Act of 1965, each as amended. 

  

PASSED and ADOPTED this the 3rd day of August 2021. 

 

 

 

      ___________________________ 

      John Williams, Mayor  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk 



To:  City Council 

From:  Kim M. Turner 

RE:  ORDINANCE 525-U-2021 AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS, REPEALING ORDINANCES 525 

THRU ORDINANCE 525-T-2019 (CITY CODE OF ORDINANCES CHAPTER 2- 
3, SECTION 2-3-1 THRU SECTION 2-3-29) IN THEIR ENTIRETY AND 

ADOPTING NEW PROVISIONS REGARDING THE COLLECTION AND 

DISPOSITION OF SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLE MATERIAL IN THE 

CITY; ESTABLISHING A CITY-WIDE COLLECTION, TRANSPORTATION 

AND DISPOSAL PROGRAM; AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 

COMPREHENSIVE AGREEMENT GRANTING WASTE MANAGEMENT OF 

TEXAS, INC. AN EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE TO OPERATE A SOLID WASTE 

COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL SERVICE IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL 

CITY, TEXAS; ESTABLISHING PENALTIES NOT TO EXCEED $2000.00 PER 

OFFENSE; PROVIDING THAT THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE CUMULATIVE; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE 

In 2013, Waste Management (WM) came to City Council with a proposal to be the first of 

its client cities to go to the Automated Side Loading (ASL) trash service.  Under that 

proposal, Waste Management would have provided each residence with WM trash carts for 

regular trash and recycling.  The proposal kept the same twice weekly trash and the once-a-

week recycling service for Universal City residents; however, trash service was to be 

relocated from the alleys to the curbside.  The City Council of 2013 determined that it was 

not ready to move forward with the ASL and curbside service.  Since Universal City did not 

want to be the first City to test ASL system, WM began its transition from manual pick up to 

ASL with another city.  

Fast forward to 2021 and WM has transitioned to ASL trash services.  The attached proposal 

includes curbside pick up for most areas of Universal City with those who have rear-entry 

garages still receiving pick up at the rear of the house.  Other important components 

incorporated into this Agreement include the following: 

• WM will provide polycarts (96-gallon wheeled totes which is equivalent to 5 bags of

trash) to each residence for trash and recycling services.

• The number of service days and the actual pick up days for trash and recycling will

remain the same.  Residences with larger families can obtain an additional polycart

for a nominal monthly fee. Residents who have occasional excessive trash and yard

waste can purchase pink tags at City Hall which allows for the extra bags to be

picked up by WM.

• Bulk brush pick up will occur twice a year rather than monthly.  Weekly yard waste

can be placed in the trash polycarts.

• The At-Your-Door Program will still be available to everyone as will the City’s

brush chipping service.

TAB C



• The number of roll-offs dedicated to the City’s Fall and Spring Clean Up for bulky

waste and hazardous waste will more than double to 72 roll-offs per event.

• Bagster will always remain an option for any resident that has bulky items for pick

up during the year.  Bagsters are available at most home improvement stores.

Residents can contact WM to schedule and pay for that pick up service.

• Per the Agreement, WM will continue its support of certain Universal City

organizations and its Sponsorship of the annual Snowfest.

• The term of the contract is for five years as allowed by State Law, with an optional

5-year extension.

• Either party has an option to cancel the agreement at any time with a 30-day written

notice.

• City’s Franchise Fee will remain the same; 10% for residential and commercial; 15%

for roll-offs.  Upon approval of the Agreement residential customers will be charged

a base rate of $22.39 (a $0.78 increase) and $2.00 for the Pink Tags.

This Ordinance has passed through many hands and iterations.  Therefore, this document is 

subject to grammatical, punctuation, margin, and pagination errors. Prior to printing the 

“official” document for signatures, staff will comb back through to correct these items.  

This is an Ordinance and requires two readings. 



Page 1  

MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE AGREEMENT 

This Municipal Solid Waste Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of the ___ 

day of ____, 2021, between the Universal City, Texas (“City”), acting by and through its duly 

authorized signatory, and Waste Management of Texas, Inc. (“Contractor”), a Texas corporation, 

acting by and through its duly authorized representative. The City and Contractor may each be 

referred to individually as “party”, and may collectively be referred to as  “parties”. 

 
W I T N E S S E T H: 

 
WHEREAS, under Chapters 363 and 364 of the Texas Health and Safety Code, the City 

is authorized to enter into contracts to enable it to furnish or receive solid waste management 

services on the terms considered appropriate by the city council and to fund solid waste 

management services by various means; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City desires for the services provided herein be provided to all persons in 

its jurisdiction, ensuring the equitable treatment of all parties who contract with the City for solid 

waste management services from all or any part of the City; and  

 

WHEREAS, the City desires to grant to Contractor the exclusive right to continue 

operating and maintaining the service of collection, transportation, and disposal of residential, 

commercial and industrial waste, over, upon, along and across the present and future streets, alleys, 

bridges, and public properties of the City, subject to the terms of this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Contractor desires to continue operating and maintaining the service of 

collection and transportation of residential garbage and trash, over, upon, along and across the 

present and future streets, alleys, bridges, and public properties of the City, subject to the terms 

of this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has negotiated in good faith with the Contractor for the services 

provided herein. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants set forth in this 

Agreement, the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 

and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged and confessed, the parties hereto agree as 

follows: 

 

1. DEFINITIONS: 
 

1.01. At Your Door (AYD) Program: A special collection service provided by 

Contractor or its affiliate to residents for the collection of difficult, 

sometimes hazardous and hard-to-recycle items generated by a household. 

The Program and its requirements are set forth in Schedule C attached 

hereto.  

   

1.02. Bag: A plastic sack no more than 33 gallons in size designed to store Waste 

with sufficient wall strength to maintain physical integrity when lifted by 

the top to which a Customer may affix a Pink Tag and place curbside for 

collection. 



Page 2  

 

1.03. Brush: Tree, shrub, grass, brush trimmings, leaves, limbs, shrubbery and 

other yard waste and green material securely tied together to form an easily 

handled bundle or placed in that is generated by or at Residential Unit 

Customer locations and placed curbside for collection. Limbs shall not 

exceed four feet (4’) in length or six inches (6”) in diameter. 

 

1.04. Bulk Waste: Furniture, bicycles (without tires), refrigerators that have 

CFCs removed by a certified technician, stoves, and other oversized wastes 

which are customary to ordinary housekeeping operations of a Residential 

Unit and whose large size precludes or complicates its handling by normal 

solid waste collection, processing or disposal methods. Curbside 

Collection of Bulk Waste is excluded from this Agreement. 

 

1.05. City: The City of Universal City, Texas. 

 

1.06. Commercial Unit: All commercial businesses and establishments, 

including, but not limited to, stores, offices, restaurants, warehouses, 

multi-family dwellings within the service area of the City occupied by a 

person, group of persons comprising of five or more families, and related 

facilities, premises, locations or entities, public or private, within the 

corporate limits of the City. 

 

1.07. Commercial Waste: All Garbage, Waste, and Rubbish generated by a 

Commercial Unit, excluding Unacceptable Waste. 

 

1.08. Construction Debris: Waste building materials resulting from 

construction, remodeling, repair, or demolition operations that are directly 

or indirectly the by-products of construction work or that result from 

demolition of buildings or other structures, but specifically excluding land-

clearing debris, yard debris, or used asphalt, asphalt mixed with dirt, sand, 

gravel, rock, concrete, or similar materials. 

 

1.09. Contract Administrator: That person, or his designee, designated by the 

City to administer and monitor the provisions of this Agreement. 

 

1.10. Contractor: Waste Management of Texas, Inc. 

 

1.11. Customer: The owner or tenant of a Residential Unit, Industrial Unit, or 

Commercial Unit located within the City, and identified by the City as 

being eligible for and in need of the services provided by the Contractor 

under this Agreement. 

 

1.12. Dead Animals: Animals or portions thereof that have expired from any 

cause except those slaughtered or killed for human use. 

 

1.13. Disposal Site: A duly permitted sanitary landfill selected by Contractor. 

 

1.14. Dumpster: Metal receptacle designed to be lifted and emptied 



Page 3  

mechanically for use only at Commercial Units or Industrial Units. 

 

1.15. Garbage: Solid Waste consisting of putrescible or animal and vegetable 

waste materials resulting from the handling, preparation, cooking, and 

consumption of food, including waste materials from markets, storage 

facilities, handling and sale of produce and other food products, and all 

Dead Animals of less than ten pounds (10 lbs.) in weight, except those 

slaughtered for human consumption. 

 

1.16. Hazardous Waste: Any material or waste identified or listed as a hazardous 

waste by the administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency under 

the Federal Solid Waste Disposal Act as amended by RCRA, 42 U.S.C. 

§6901, et. seq., as amended. 

 

1.17. Industrial Unit: All industrial businesses and establishments, including 

manufacturing facilities, temporary construction sites, and other premises, 

locations or entities, public or private, within the corporate limits of the 

City. 

 

1.18. Industrial Waste: Solid Waste resulting from or incidental to any 

process of industry, manufacturing, construction, demolition, mining or 

agricultural operations. Industrial Waste includes Construction Debris but 

excludes Unacceptable Waste. 
 

1.19. Light Commercial Unit: A retail or light commercial type of business, 

which generates no more than one (1) cubic yard of Garbage, Rubbish, and 

Refuse per week, excluding Unacceptable Waste. 

 

1.20. Medical Waste. Waste generated by health care related facilities and 

associated with health care activities, not including Garbage or Rubbish 

generated from offices, kitchens, or other non-health-care activities. The 

term includes Special Waste from health care-related facilities which is 

comprised of animal waste, bulk blood and blood products, 

microbiological waste, pathological waste, and sharps as those terms are 

defined in 25 TAC §1.132 (relating to Definitions). 

 

1.21. Non-Recyclables: Any materials in the Single Stream Materials that are not 

Recyclables. 

 

1.22. Pink Tag: A tag or adhesive sticker developed, produced, and sold by the 

City to Residential Customers to affix on to a bag into which Waste has 

been deposited and then the bag has been placed curbside for Contractor to 

collect on that resident’s regular collection day.   

 

1.23. Polycart: A Contractor owned rubber-wheeled receptacle with a maximum 

capacity of 90 - 96 gallons constructed of plastic, metal and/or fiberglass, 

designed for automated or semi-automated solid waste or recyclables 

collection systems, and having a tight-fitting lid capable of preventing 

entrance into the container by small animals. The weight of a Polycart and 



Page 4  

its contents shall not exceed 175 lbs. Polycart is provided to a Residential 

Unit or Light Commercial Unit for the deposit of Waste and/or Recyclable 

Materials. 

 

1.24. Recyclable Materials or Recyclables: A material that has been recovered 

or diverted from the non-hazardous waste stream for purposes of reuse, 

recycling, or reclamation, a substantial portion of which is consistently 

used in the manufacture of products that may otherwise by produced using 

raw or virgin materials. Recyclable Material is not solid waste. However, 

Recyclable Material may become Solid Waste at such time, if any, as it is 

abandoned or disposed of rather than recycled, whereupon it will be solid 

waste, with respect to the party actually abandoning or disposing of such 

material. 

 

1.25. Residential Unit: A residential dwelling, such as a home, townhouse or 

condominium unit, within the service area of the City occupied by a person 

or group of persons comprising not more than four single-family units and 

serviced through the collection of Polycarts. A Residential Unit shall be 

deemed occupied when either water or domestic light and power services 

are being supplied thereto.  
 

1.26. Residential Waste: All Garbage, Rubbish and Waste generated by a 

Customer at a Residential Unit, excluding Unacceptable Waste and 

Construction Debris generated by the owner, occupant or a Third-Party 

Provider. 

 

1.27. Rubbish: Nonputrescible Solid Waste (excluding ashes), consisting of both 

combustible and noncombustible waste materials. Combustible rubbish 

includes paper, rags, cartons, wood, wood shavings, furniture, rubber, 

plastics, yard trimmings, leaves, brush or similar materials; 

noncombustible rubbish includes glass, crockery, tin cans, aluminum cans, 

metal furniture, and similar materials that will not burn at ordinary 

incinerator temperatures (1,600 degrees Fahrenheit to 1,800 degrees 

Fahrenheit). 

 

1.28. Single Stream Materials: means all materials deposited by a Customer in 

the Customer’s Recycling Cart, including any Recyclables and Non- 

Recyclables. 

 

1.29. Solid Waste or Waste: Non-hazardous solid waste generated by a 

Customer at a Residential Unit to be collected by Contractor under this 

Agreement. Solid Waste excludes Unacceptable Waste and Construction 

Debris. 
 

1.30. Special Waste: Waste that requires special handling and management due 

to the nature of the waste, including, but not limited to, the following: (A) 

containerized waste (e.g. a drum, barrel, portable tank, box, pail, etc.), (B) 

waste transported in bulk tanker, (C) liquid waste, (D) sludge waste, (E) 

waste from an industrial process, (F) waste from a pollution control 



Page 5  

process, (G) residue and debris from the cleanup of a spill or release of 

chemical(s), or (H) any other waste defined by applicable law, rule or 

regulation as "Special Waste". 

 

1.31. Third-Party Provider: A commercial business enterprise or third party that 

provides any type of services to Residential Units or construction sites. 

 

1.32. Unacceptable Waste: Any waste or material that (i) the acceptance and 

handling of which by Contractor would cause a violation of any permit, 

condition, legal or regulatory requirement, (ii) substantial damage to 

Contractor's equipment or facilities, or (iii) contains information (in hard 

copy or electronic format) that is protected or regulated under any local, 

state or federal privacy or data security laws, including without limitation, 

the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), or (iv) 

presents a danger to the health or safety of the public or Contractor's 

employees, and/or (v) is or contains Hazardous Waste, Special Waste, 

untreated Medical Waste, Dead Animals weighing ten pounds (10 lbs.) or 

greater, or (vi) is or contains solid or dissolved material in domestic 

sewage, or solid or dissolved material in irrigation return flows, or 

industrial discharges subject to regulation by permit, or (vii) is soil, dirt, 

rock, sand, and other natural or man-made inert solid materials used to fill 

land if the object of the fill is to make the land suitable for the construction 

of surface improvements, or (viii) results from activities associated with 

the exploration, development, or production of oil or gas or geothermal 

resources. 

 

1.33. Unusual Accumulations or Overage: As to Residential Units, any Waste 

placed curbside for collection or placed outside, on top of or sticking out 

of a Polycart, other than Bags with a Pink Tag affixed to them. As to 

Commercial Units and Industrial Units, (i) any Waste or other material 

placed on top of or located outside the Dumpster, Roll-off Bin or 

Compactor regularly used for such collection service or (ii) in excess of the 

applicable weight limits or intended capacity such that the lid will not 

completely close. 
 

 

2. GRANT OF EXCLUSIVE FRANCHISE: 
 

Contractor is hereby granted the exclusive right and privilege within the corporate limits 

of the City to conduct business for the purpose of collection and disposal of Waste from  Residential 

Units, collection of Commercial and Industrial Waste from Commercial and Industrial Units and 

Construction Debris generated at Residential, Commercial, or Industrial Units, including 

commercial or industrial temporary construction sites subject to the terms hereof, including any 

tracts, territories and areas hereafter annexed to or acquired by City. 
 

3. TERM: 
 

             The term of this Agreement shall be a period of five (5) years, commencing on August 

__, 2021 (“Commencement Date”) and concluding on _____, 2026. The term of this Agreement 

shall automatically extend without further action of the parties for an additional term of five (5) 



Page 6 

years, unless not less than ninety (90) days before the termination of the term, one party advises 

the other in writing of its desire to terminate this Agreement at the conclusion of the term of the 

Agreement. 

4. RATES:

Contractor is authorized to charge, and shall receive from the City, the rates set forth on 

Schedule “A” ("Base Rates") attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference upon the 

Commencement Date of this Agreement. The Base Rates are subject to adjustment as set forth in 

Section 9 below. 

5. CONTRACTOR SERVICES:

5.01. Residential Collection: For those Residential Unit Customers that Contractor has 

not already provided a Waste Polycart and a Recycling Polycart, if any, Contractor agrees 

to provide Polycarts to those Customers by ____________. A Residential Unit 

Customer may request an additional Polycart and Contractor must provide an additional 

Cart at the rate set forth in Schedule A. A Residential Unit Customer may purchase a Pink 

Tag from the City and affix the Pink Tag to a Bag of Waste. Contractor will collect properly 

placed Bags that have a Pink Tag affixed thereto on the Residential Unit Customer’s regular 

collection day. 

(a) Contractor shall collect Residential Waste generated at a Residential Unit and 

placed in that Residential Unit’s Waste Polycart two times per week, but not 

less than three days between collection times within the same week. The 

Contractor shall not be obligated to collect any Waste not properly contained 

in the Customer’s Waste Polycart. 

(b) Construction Debris generated at a Residential Unit by the owner or tenant of 

that Residential Unit, and not using the services of a Third-Party Provider, 

shall                be subject to the Bulky Waste limitations set forth in this Agreement. 

Any Waste or Bulky Waste generated by a owner or tenant, or a Third-Party 

Provider is Commercial Waste and Contractor has no obligation to collect 

those materials. 

5.02 Brush Collection: Contractor shall provide a twice per year collection service in 

the months of October and April to Residential Units for collection of Brush. Contractor 

agrees to collect up to, but not to exceed, a total of six (6) cubic yards of Brush from 

each Residential Unit. Contractor  shall have no obligation to collect any Brush in excess 

of the above volume, Brush shall be placed within three (3) feet of the curb, swale, paved 

surface of the roadway, closest accessible roadway, or other location agreed to by 

Contractor and Customer, that will provide safe and efficient accessibility to Contractor's 

collection crew and vehicle. 

Collection of Curbside Residential Unit Bulky Waste is not included in this Agreement. 

Construction Debris generated by a Third-Party Provider hired by a Residential Unit 

Customer and generated and/or located at that Residential Unit is considered and shall be 

treated as Commercial Waste. 



Page 7 

5.03 Residential Door-to-Truck Service: Contractor will provide, at no cost to the City 

or the Residential Customer, Residential Door-To-Truck waste collection for up to 20 

Residential Customers that the City determines have demonstrated a need or hardship 

necessitating this special service. The City has sole responsibility for determining which 

Residential Unit Customers qualify for this special service. The City will provide 

Contractor with a complete list of qualifying Customers’ addresses each time a 

modification is made. Door-to-Truck collection service means the Customer places their 

Waste Polycart near their garage or carport rather than curbside. Contractor may refuse to 

provide this service if the location of the Polycart exceeds 150 feet from the curb line or 

edge of pavement and no such service will be provided for Bulky Waste or Brush 

collection. 

5.04 Residential Recyclables Collection: 

(a) Contractor shall collect Residential Unit Recyclables once per week, per an agreed 

upon schedule with the City. Residential Unit Customers must place all Recyclables into 

the Recycling Cart. Contractor shall not be required to collect any Recyclable Materials 

that are not placed in a Recycling Cart. In addition, Contractor shall not be required to 

collect Recyclable Materials if the Customer           does not segregate the Recyclable Materials 

from the remainder of the Residential Waste. 

(b) Recyclables Specifications: The following are Recyclables that Customers may 

deposit into the Recyclables Carts. To be acceptable, the Recyclables must be dry, loose 

(not bagged), unshredded, empty and include only the following: 

Aluminum cans Newspaper 

PET bottles with the symbol #1 – with 
screw tops only 

Mail 

HDPE plastic bottles with the symbol #2 
(milk, water bottles detergent, and 
shampoo bottles, etc.) 

Uncoated paperboard (ex. cereal boxes; food and 
snack boxes) 

PP plastic bottles and tubs with symbol # 
5 - empty 

Uncoated printing, writing and office paper 

Steel and tin cans Old corrugated containers/cardboard (uncoated) 

Glass food and beverage containers – 
brown, clear, or green 

Magazines, glossy inserts and pamphlets 

Non-Recyclables include, but are not limited to, the following: 

Plastic bags and bagged materials 
(even if containing Recyclables) 

Microwavable trays 

Porcelain and ceramics Light bulbs, Mirrors 

Window or auto glass Coated cardboard 

Soiled paper, including paper 
plates, cups and pizza boxes 

Plastics not listed above including but not limited to 
those with symbols #3, #4, #6, #7 and unnumbered 
plastics, including utensils 

Expanded polystyrene Coat hangers 

Glass and metal 
cookware/bakeware 

Household appliances and electronics 

Hoses, cords, wires Yard waste, construction debris, and wood 

Flexible plastic or film packaging 
and multi-laminated materials 

Needles, syringes, IV bags or other medical supplies 



Page 8  

Food waste and liquids, containers 
containing such items 

Textiles, cloth, or any fabric (bedding, pillows, sheets, 
etc.) 

Excluded Materials or containers 
which contained Excluded 
Materials 

Napkins, paper towels, tissue, paper plates, paper cups, 
and plastic utensils 

Any paper Recyclable materials or 
pieces of paper Recyclables less 
than 4” in size in any dimension 

Propane tanks, batteries 

Cartons Aseptic Containers 

 

(c) Delivery Specifications. Residential Unit Customers shall deposit only the 

Recyclables listed above into their Recyclables Carts. If a load of material does not meet 

these specifications, the Recycling Facility may reject the load and the City may be charged 

for the resulting transportation, handling, and disposal costs for the Non- Recyclables. The 

Recycling Facility or Contractor has the right to dispose of all residue, contamination, and 

Non-Recyclables resulting from or remaining after the processing of the materials 

collected from the Recyclables Carts under this Agreement. The City  acknowledges that 

Contractor may face unforeseen charges or increases based on the recycling market, the 

quality of the materials collected within the City, and/or uncontrollable circumstances, 

including without limitation, changes in law, and the City agrees to pay these charges so 

long as Contractor provides the City with written documentation explaining or justifying the 

increase prior to the City’s payment.  

 
(d) Recycling Market Changes: The market for Recyclables continues to evolve and 

is volatile. As such, Contractor cannot make any representations as to the marketability 

of the Recyclables, and when no reasonable commercial market exists for a commodity, 

Contractor and/or the Recycling Facility reserves the right to dispose of that material. 

Contractor also reserves the right to add or delete materials from the list of Recyclables 

based upon requests or demands from the Recycling Facility, changes in market 

conditions, uncontrollable circumstances, governmental restraint, or changes in laws, 

rules, regulations, or ordinances, and Contractor will provide written notice to the City of 

those changes. The Recycling Facility reserves the right to dispose of particular 

Recyclables when no reasonable commercial market exists for a commodity. In the event 

that a change in applicable law or a material change in market conditions that has the 

effect of materially altering the terms of this Agreement or substantially affects the 

benefit(s) bargained for by the parties, the parties may agree to amend the terms of 

the recycling portion of the Agreement to reflect the current market or legal conditions. 

 
5.05 Carts/Polycarts/Placement: 

 

(i) Contractor agrees to provide one (1) Waste Polycart and (1) Recycling Polycart 

to each Residential Unit for the deposit of Waste and Recyclables. The Carts 

shall be placed by the Customer of a Residential Unit in a location that is readily 

accessible to Contractor and its collection equipment, not to exceed three (3) 

feet from the curb or edge of the travelled portion of the street, road or alley, 

and not to be located in a manner that will block the driveway or mailbox or 

otherwise inhibit proper servicing. The City shall aid Contractor in resolving 

problems of Cart location by the Customer. Customers shall not overload Carts, 

and the Carts shall be loaded such that the lids shall close securely. 
 



Page 9  

(ii) Contractor shall not be required to collect (i) any Residential Waste or 

Recyclables that are not placed in a Polycart, (ii) any Residential Waste or 

Recyclables from a Polycart that is overloaded or whose lid cannot fully close, 

or (iii) a Polycart that is not properly placed curbside. Contractor shall have no 

obligation to collect Unusual Accumulations/Overage and may charge for the 

collection of same so long as Contractor provides a digital image or photograph 

of the Overage to the Residential Unit Customer upon request. 
 

(iii) The Carts furnished by the Contractor hereunder shall remain the property of 

Contractor, and the Customer will have no interest in the Carts. The Carts shall 

remain at the location of the Residential Unit where delivered by Contractor. 

If a Cart is damaged beyond repair, the Contractor must provide a replacement Cart 

to the Residential Unit location at no charge. Any Cart removed from, lost or missing 

from a Customer location may be deemed lost, and Contractor must provide a 

replacement Cart at a cost of $70.00 per Cart to the City. The City may pass through 

the Contractor’s replacement Cart charge to the Residential Unit Customer at the 

City’s option. 

 

5.06. Residential Household Special Waste Collection Program: Contractor agrees 

to provide a residential household hazardous waste collection service pursuant to 

the terms set forth in Schedule C, the At-Your-Door Program. 
 

5.07. Commercial and Industrial Unit Collection: Contractor shall have the exclusive 

right to collect and transport Commercial Waste from the Commercial Units and 

Industrial Waste from the Industrial Units, respectively, utilizing Dumpsters, 

Compactors or Roll Off Bins, at such frequency as shall be reasonably requested 

and agreed to between the Customer and Contractor. The Dumpster, Compactor 

or Roll Off Bin shall be located on a concrete pad to accommodate equipment and 

at a location reasonably acceptable to Contractor. Contractor may, at its sole option, 

require Commercial or Industrial Unit Customers to enter individual contracts with 

Contractor, subject to the terms of this Agreement. If additional Roll Off Bins, 

Compactors, Dumpsters or collection services are needed by Commercial or 

Industrial Unit Customers beyond what Contractor can provide, the City and 

Contractor, upon mutual written agreement, may allow Contractor to use a third 

party to assist Contractor in providing the needed waste equipment or services 

hereunder on a temporary basis.  
 

5.08. Unusual Accumulations Collection/Overage: Contractor shall have no obligation 

to collect Unusual Accumulations/Overage and may charge for the collection of 

same so long as Contractor provides a digital image or photograph of the Overage 

to the Commercial or Industrial Unit Customer upon request. 
 

5.09. Unacceptable Waste: Contractor shall not be obligated to collect any 

Unacceptable Waste. Title to Unacceptable Waste shall not pass to Contractor, and 

liability for any Unacceptable Waste shall remain with the generator of such 

material. 

5.10 Services Provided to City or City Facilities: 
 

(i) The Contractor will provide, at no charge, Waste collection services two times 



Page 10  

per week, but not less than three days between collection times within the same 

week, at the City facilities listed in Schedule B. The Waste containers provided 

at each City facility will be of the size and type appropriate to the volume and 

characteristics of the Waste and as set forth in Schedule B. Additional or new 

City facilities or buildings will only be serviced by Contractor at no charge 

upon the mutual written agreement of both parties. 

 

(ii) Contractor will provide to the City, at no additional charge, two (2) thirty cubic 

yard Roll-Off container at a location determined by the City Public Works 

Department and agreed to by Contractor. Contractor will provide a maximum 

of 180 prescheduled pulls each calendar year at no charge to the City. These 

180 Roll-Off pulls must be used during each calendar year and may not be 

accumulated and rolled into the following calendar year. The weight of the 

Roll-Off shall not exceed eight (8) tons per pull. The City is required to 

electronically notify the Contractor of the requested pull(s) for the 30 cubic 

yard Roll-Off via the Contractor’s PSS Customer Service Team. Contractor 

shall charge and the City agrees to pay the rate set forth in Schedule A for any 

Roll-Off load heavier than the eight-ton limit, provided Contractor notifies the 

City within three (3) business days of an overweight load. Otherwise, there will 

be no additional charge for over-limit loads. Additional pulls will be charged 

to the City per the then-current rates in Schedule A. 

 

(iii) Contractor will provide special collection services daily at designated locations 

during the City's annual fall and spring cleanup. Six (6) forty-cubic-yard roll-

off containers will be provided to the City for each such annual fall and spring 

cleanup where only residential Bulky Waste will be collected. Container and 

pickup service will be at no cost to the City. Such fall and spring clean-ups 

shall not exceed two (2) weeks each and number of roll-off container pulls shall 

not exceed 72 for each clean-up. The City will be charged the current applicable 

rate in Schedule A for any load heavier than the eight-ton limit, provided 

Contractor notifies the City within three (3) business days of an overweight 

load. Otherwise, there will be no additional charge for over-limit loads. 

Additional pulls will be charged to the City at the then-current rate in Schedule 

A. Contractor shall have no obligation to haul any roll-off that contains 

construction, commercial, or industrial waste. The City will be requested to 

remove such waste from the roll-off. If the City is unable to remove the waste, 

Contractor has the right to transport and dispose of the roll-off contents at the 

applicable rate for such waste type. 

 

6. COLLECTION OPERATION: 
 

6.01. Hours of Operation: Collection of Residential Waste and Light Commercial 

Waste shall begin no earlier than 7:00 A.M. and may not extend beyond 6:00 P.M. 

Collection of Commercial Waste or Industrial Waste shall begin no earlier than 

6:00 A.M. and may not extend beyond 6:00 P.M. No collections shall be made on 

Sunday. 
 

6.02. Routes of Collection: Collection routes shall be established by the Contractor as 

reasonably approved by City. City shall provide Contractor with maps of the City 



Page 11  

containing sufficient detail for Contractor to design collection routes. Contractor 

shall provide to the City route maps for approval by the City, which approval shall 

not be unreasonably withheld. 
 

6.03. Holidays: The following are  holidays for purposes of this Agreement: 
 

New Year's Day Labor Day Thanksgiving Day 
Independence Day Memorial Day Christmas Day 

Contractor may decide to observe any or all of the above-mentioned holidays by 

suspension or collection service on the holiday, but the Contractor is responsible 

for providing make-up collection for residential routes that occur on specified 

holidays. Make-up days are the next business day following the holiday and 

every remaining route day scheduled for that week will be pushed a day. 

6.04. Complaints: Customer complaints shall be directed by the City to Contractor, and 

Contractor shall promptly resolve any complaint based on the nature of the 

complaint. Contractor shall be responsible for maintaining a log of complaints 

based on the information provided to Contractor by the City, and shall provide the  

City, on a monthly basis, with copies of all complaints indicating the date and hour 

of the complaint, nature of the complaint, and the manner and timing of its 

resolution. Any alleged missed pickups will be investigated and, if such allegations 

are verified, Contractor shall arrange for collection on the next business day after 

receipt of such complaint. If the missed pickup is a result of Customer related acts 

or omissions, the City shall take appropriate action to cause such Customer to 

subsequently properly set out such Waste. 
 

6.05. Collection Equipment: Contractor, at its sole cost and expense, agrees to furnish, 

all trucks, equipment, machines, and labor which are reasonably necessary to 

adequately, efficiently, and properly collect and transport Waste from Customers 

serviced by Contractor in accordance with this Agreement. 
 

6.06. Disposal: The Contractor shall deliver Waste collected to a duly permitted Disposal 

Site operated in compliance with rules stipulated by the applicable state agency 

and/or the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 

 

6.07. Spillage: The Contractor shall not be responsible for scattered Refuse unless the 

same has been caused by Contractor, in which case all scattered Refuse shall be 

picked up immediately by Contractor. 

 

6.08. Vicious Animals: Employees of the Contractor shall not be required to expose 

themselves to the dangers of vicious animals in order to accomplish Refuse 

collection service. Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in writing, of 

such condition and of his inability to make collection. 

 

6.09. Protection From Scattering: Each Contractor vehicle shall be equipped with a 

cover which may be net with mesh not greater than one and one-half (1-1/2) inches, 

or tarpaulin, or fully enclosed metal top to prevent leakage, blowing or scattering 

of refuse onto public or private property. 

 

6.10.    Point of Contact.   All dealings and contacts between Contractor and the City shall 



Page 12  

be directed between Public Sector Solutions Manager of Contractor, or such        other 

individual identified by Contractor, and the Contract Administrator designated by 

the City. 

 

7. LICENSE AND TAXES: 

Contractor shall obtain at its sole expense all licenses and permits required by the City 

and the State and shall maintain same in full force and effect. 
 

8. BILLING: 
 

(a) City shall provide billing and bill collection services for Residential Units. Within 

twenty-one (21) days of the end of each month during which collection services are 

provided by Contractor hereunder, Contractor shall submit to the City an invoice 

setting forth sums due by the City to Contractor for services rendered under this 

Agreement for the prior month. City shall remit to Contractor payment for such 

services within thirty (30) days after receipt of invoice. Past due invoices shall bear 

interest at the highest rate permitted by law. The City shall notify, in writing, and 

request that Contractor suspend services to any Residential Unit Customer that has 

failed to pay the City for Waste or Recyclables collection services, and Contractor 

may suspend service to such delinquent Customer until notified by the City to resume 

such services. The City’s franchise, billing, or administrative fees, if any, will not be 

included in the Contractor’s invoices to the City for services provided to Residential 

Units. The City shall include in its bills sent directly to Residential Units any City 

franchise, billing, or administrative fees and shall retain those fees. The City’s 

payments under this Agreement, including the time of payment and the payment of 

interest on overdue amounts, are subject to Chapter 2251, Texas Government Code.  

Upon written notice to Contractor, City may modify any amount due to Contractor 

presented by invoice to the City, if necessary, to conform the amount to the terms of 

the Agreement. 
 

(b) Contractor shall provide billing and bill collection services for all Commercial and 

Industrial Unit Customers including Light Commercial Customers, that use 

Polycarts, Dumpsters, Compactors, or Roll-Off Bins. Within 21 days of the end of 

each month during which collection services are provided by Contractor hereunder, 

Contractor shall submit an invoice to each Commercial and Industrial Customer. 

 

(i) Contractor shall include in its invoices to the Customer the City’s franchise 

fee of ten percent (10%) (“Franchise Fee”) for Commercial and Light 

Commercial Customers that use Polycarts or Dumpsters, along the City’s 

franchise fee of 15 percent (15%) for Industrial Compactors or Roll-Offs. 

The Franchise Fee payments actually received by Contractor from 

Customers shall be paid by the Contractor to the City within thirty (30) days 

after the last day of the month of Contractor’s actual receipt of such monies. 

The rates set forth in Schedule A for Commercial, Light Commercial, and 

Industrial Units include the City’s Franchise Fee. The rates set forth in 

Schedule A for Residential Units DOES NOT include the City’s 10% 

franchise fee. The Franchise Fee shall not be added to and/or be assessed 

upon any state or local sales tax or other governmental fees, such as the state 

of Texas disposal fee, or the Franchise Fee itself. 



Page 13  

 

9. Invoices sent to Commercial, Light Commercial and Industrial Unit Customers by 

Contractor shall be paid within thirty (30) days after receipt of such invoice by Customer 

or in accordance with each individual contract between Customer and Contractor, if any. 

All past due invoices shall bear interest at the highest rate permitted by law. Contractor 

may suspend service to any Customer that is delinquent in payment directly to 

Contractor. If Contractor suspends service to a Customer for failure to timely pay 

Contractor’s invoices, Contractor has the right to charge a service reactivation fee and/or 

finance charges or late payment fees if such service to the Customer is reinstated. 

 

10. MODIFICATION TO RATES: 
 

CPI Adjustment. Base Rates charged by Contractor for services will remain fixed as set 

forth on Schedule "A" and will not be increased for changes in the CPI (as hereinafter 

defined), until the first anniversary of the Agreement Commencement Date (“Anniversary 

Date”). Continuing annually on each Anniversary Date thereafter, the Base Rates for 

services shall be adjusted by eighty-five percent (85%) of the average monthly percentage 

increase that the Consumer Price Index, US City Average for All Urban Consumers, 

Garbage and Trash, Not Seasonally Adjusted, Base Period December 1983 = 100 

(published by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, Consumer Price Index) (the 

“C.P.I.”) has increased over the 12 most recently published months. The C.P.I. 

published on the first Monday prior to the end of June (or the first business day thereafter 

if such Monday is a Federal Holiday) shall be used to determine the monthly percentage 

increase change. The average will be determined by calculating the percentage increase 

change in the CPI each month during the applicable 12-month period. Once that average 

is determined, then the average increase change for the 12- month period for the prior 

year will be subtracted and that sum will be multiplied by  85%. The product shall be 

the CPI adjustment component of the annual modification to Base Rates. In the event the 

U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics ceases to publish the C.P.I., the 

parties hereto agree to substitute another equally authoritative measure of change in the 

purchasing power of the U.S. dollar as may be then available so as to carry out the intent 

of this provision. The percentage increase change shall be multiplied by 85% and the 

product thereof shall be the “CPI Adjustment Component” of the annual modification to 

Base Rates. 
 

Fuel Adjustment. Beginning on the Anniversary Date and every anniversary thereafter, 

the Base Rates shall be adjusted by 15% of the average percentage increase or decrease in 

the price of compressed natural gas determined by the Energy Information Administration 

of the US Department of Energy (“EIA/DOE”)’s Natural Gas Commercial Price-Texas 

Index during the applicable 12-month time period. The average will be computed by 

calculating the percentage change in the EIA/DOE price each month during the applicable 

12 month period. Once that average is determined, then the average change for the 12 

month period during the prior year will be subtracted and that sum will be multiplied by 

15%. product thereof shall be the fuel adjustment component” of the annual modification 

to Base Rates. 
 

Additional Adjustments. Contractor may also be entitled to an increase in Base Rates 

from time to time during the term of this Agreement to offset any substantiated change in 

conditions which increase the Contractor’s costs, including but not limited to, increases in 



Page 14  

disposal costs, increases in landfill fees, changes in the ordinances under which the 

Contractor is to operate, or changes in federal, state or local laws, rules or regulations. 

Documentation of such increases shall be submitted to the City upon the City’s request. 
 

11. CITY'S OBLIGATIONS: 
 

The City agrees to perform the following obligations: 

(a) The City shall designate the Contract Administrator, who shall communicate City 

decisions to Contractor on a timely basis from time to time as required under this 

Agreement; 
 

(b) The City shall provide the total number of Residential Units to the Contractor no 

later than the 25th day of each month (i.e., the total house count that will receive 

Contractor services). Contractor will use that monthly Residential Unit total in its 

next invoice to the City or Contractor will use the most recent monthly total 

provided by the City. Contractor may rely upon the total house count numbers 

provided by the City. Any errors or mistakes in the total house count provided by 

the City to Contractor shall be corrected within 6 months of the date provided to 

the Contractor or the mistake is waived and released by both parties. Contractor 

may verify the total house count provided by the City. If the City fails to provide a 

monthly house count, Contractor will use the most recent house count provided by 

the City; 
 

(c) The City shall timely pay Contractor pursuant to Section 8 of this Agreement; 

 

(d) The City shall timely inform Contractor of complaints made by Customers; 

 

(e) The City shall work with Contractor in good faith to resolve complex Customer 

service issues; and 

 

(f) The City shall educate Customers to encourage, promote and obtain proper Waste 

disposal as required by this Agreement, including educating Residential Unit 

Customers to assure proper and timely Cart set out. 

 

(g) City shall provide Contractor with maps (GIS Shapefiles) of the City containing 

sufficient detail for   Contractor to design or modify collection routes. Additionally, 

the City shall provide at least six (6) months advanced written notice of its intent to 

adjust its boundaries, annex new territory and/or approve new developments 

resulting in an increase in the number of Residential Units that Contractor is 

expected to service. 

 

12. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS: 
 

Contractor, its officers, agents, employees, contractors, and subcontractors, shall comply 

with all national, state and local standards, codes and ordinances, laws, and regulations  applicable 

to the Contractor’s services, equipment and materials used as set forth in this Agreement.  Any 

terms or provisions of this Agreement waiving any rules, regulations, or requirements of these 

authorities are void and unenforceable. It is expressly agreed that nothing in this Agreement shall 

be construed in any manner to abridge the right of City to pass or enforce necessary police and 



Page 15  

health regulation for the protection of its inhabitants. It is further agreed and understood that, if the 

City calls the attention of Contractor to any such violations on the part of the Contractor, its 

officers, agents, employees, contractors, or subcontractors, then Contractor shall immediately 

desist from such activity and correct such violation. Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining 

all necessary permits, certificates and/or licenses to fulfill its contractual obligations. 
 

13. OFFICE: 
 

Contractor shall maintain an office or such other facility through which it may be contacted 

by telephone without charge and via email. Such office shall be equipped with sufficient telephones 

and shall have a responsible person in charge between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., 

Monday through Friday who shall be available and responsive by telephone and email. 
 

14. ENFORCEMENT: 
 

The City shall take any action reasonably necessary to prevent any other solid waste 

collection company from providing waste or recyclables services within the City in violation of 

the exclusive franchise rights granted herein. If the City fails to take action to enforce the 

exclusive franchise rights, then the Contractor will have the right to take action to protect its 

exclusive rights granted under this Agreement.  The City agrees to take all steps necessary and 

permitted by law to require Customers to comply with the terms of this Agreement. 
 

15. TRANSFERABILITY OF AGREEMENT: 
 

This Agreement shall not be assignable or otherwise transferable by the Contractor without the prior 

written consent of the City which shall not be unreasonably withheld; provided, however, that the Contractor 

may assign this Agreement to any direct or indirect affiliate or subsidiary of the Contractor or to any person 

or entity succeeding to all or substantially all of the Contractor’s assets (whether by operation of law, merger, 

consolidation or otherwise) without the City’s consent. Upon the assignment, the assignee shall assume all 

obligations of the Contractor hereunder.  
 

16. LANDFILL CAPACITY: 
 

Contractor shall have and maintain during the term hereof adequate disposal capacity for 

the Waste to be collected under this Agreement. 
 

17. TERMINATION: 
 

Except as otherwise provided herein, if either party defaults in the performance of any of 

the covenants or conditions contained herein, and fails to cure such default within thirty (30) 

days after the non-defaulting party has given the defaulting party written notice of such default (or 

if such default is of a nature that it cannot be cured within such thirty (30) day period, the defaulting 

party fails to commence the curing of such default within such thirty (30) day period, and fails to 

thereafter diligently pursue the curing thereof) (the "Cure Period"), the non- defaulting party may: 

(a) terminate this Agreement as of any date which the non-defaulting party may select, provided 

said date is at least thirty (30) days after the expiration of the Cure Period; (b) cure the default at 

the expense of the defaulting party; or (c) have recourse to any other right or remedy to which it 

may be entitled by law, including, but not limited to, the right to all damages or losses suffered as 

a result of such termination. In the event either party waives default by the other party, such waiver 

shall not be construed or determined to be a continuing waiver of the same or any subsequent 



Page 16  

breach or default. 
 

18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION: 
 

The parties shall endeavor to settle all disputes under, or relating to, this Agreement by 

amicable negotiations. Except as otherwise provided herein, any claim, dispute, disagreement or 

controversy that arises among the parties under or relating to this Agreement that is not amicably 

settled shall be submitted to mediation. If the parties remain unable to resolve the controversy 

through mediation, then either party may pursue their claim, dispute, disagreement or controversy 

in a court with proper venue in the state within which the services are being performed. The Parties 

expressly agree to litigate any disputes, claims, or controversies arising out of or relating to this 

Agreement. 
 

19. FORCE MAJEURE: 
 

The performance of this Agreement may be suspended and the obligations hereunder 

excused in the event and during the period that such performance is prevented by a cause or 

causes beyond the reasonable control of such party.  The performance of this Agreement will be 

suspended and the obligations hereunder excused only until the condition preventing 

performance is remedied or has abated.  Such conditions shall include, but not be limited to, acts 

of war, accident, explosion, fire, flood, riot, sabotage, acts of terrorists, unusually severe weather, 

lack of adequate fuel, or judicial or governmental laws or regulations. 
 

20. EVIDENCE OF INSURANCE: 

Contractor shall procure and maintain for the duration of the Agreement insurance against 

claims for injuries to persons or damages to property, which may arise from or in conjunction with 

the performance of the work hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees, 

or subcontractors. The City shall be named as an additional insured under the policies, except for 

workers’ compensation, and shall have coverage for liability assumed under an insured contract. 

Contractor shall provide the City with a certificate of insurance reflecting the City’s additional 

insured status and agreeing to give the City at least 30 days’ written notice in case of policy 

termination. The cost of such insurance shall be borne by the Contractor. 
 

Minimum Limits of Insurance: 
Type of Coverage Per Occurrence Minimum Aggregate Minimum 

Workers Compensation 

Employer’s Liability 

Statutory 
$500,000 

As required by law 

Commercial General Liability $1,000,000 $1,000,000 

Auto Liability 

Bodily Injury 

Property Damage 

$1,000,000 

$1,000,000 
$  500,000 

$1,000,000 

Umbrella Liability Policy $2,000,000 $2,000,000 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 17  

21. INDEMNITY: 

 

TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, CONTRACTOR AGREES 

TO INDEMNIFY, SAVE HARMLESS AND DEFEND THE CITY, ITS ELECTED AND 

APPOINTED OFFICIALS, EMPLOYEES, VOLUNTEERS AND OTHER WORKERS, 

FROM ANY AND ALL THIRD PARTY SUITS, ACTIONS, LEGAL PROCEEDINGS, 

CLAIMS, DEMANDS, COSTS, EXPENSES, REASONABLE ATTORNEY’S FEES AND 

ANY AND ALL OTHER COSTS OR FEES (WHETHER GROUNDED IN 

CONSTITUTIONAL LAW, TORT, CONTRACT, OR PROPERTY LAW, OR RAISED 

PURSUANT TO LOCAL, STATE OR FEDERAL STATUTORY PROVISION) TO THE 

EXTENT ARISING OUT OF CONTRACTOR’S, ITS OFFICERS, AGENTS, AND 

EMPLOYEES’ NEGLIGENT ACTS OR OMISSIONS OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT IN 

THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT. THE INDEMNIFICATION 

OBLIGATION CREATED UNDER THIS PARAGRAPH SHALL NOT APPLY TO THE 

EXTENT THAT ANY LOSSES, DAMAGES, JUDGMENTS, CLAIMS, FINES, 

INTEREST AND PENALTIES SUFFERED BY THE CITY ARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 

CITY, ITS ELECTED AND APPOINTED OFFICIALS, EMPLOYEES, VOLUNTEERS 

AND OTHER WORKERS’ ACTS OR OMISSIONS. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT BE 

WITHIN PROTECTION OR COVEREAGE OF THE CITY’S WORKER’S 

COMPENSATION INSURANCE, HEALTH INSURANCE, LIABILITY INSURANCE OR 

ANY OTHER INSURANCE THAT THE CITY FROM TIME TO TIME MAY HAVE IN 

FORCE AND EFFECT.  IF EITHER PARTY BECOMES AWARE OF ANY INCIDENT 

LIKELY TO GIVE RISE TO A CLAIM UNDER THE ABOVE INDEMNITIES, IT SHALL 

NOTIFY THE OTHER PARTY WITHIN SEVEN (7) DAYS AND BOTH PARTIES 

SHALL COOPERATE FULLY IN INVESTIGATING THE INCIDENT.   

 

NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE OBLIGATED TO INDEMNIFY THE OTHER 

PARTY IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER FOR THE OTHER PARTY’S OWN 

NEGLIGENCE OR MISCONDUCT.   CONTRACTOR SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO 

CONTROL THE DEFENSE AND SETTLEMENT OF ANY CLAIM FOR WHICH 

INDEMNIFICATION IS SOUGHT UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND AGREES TO USE 

QUALIFIED DEFENSE COUNSEL, PROVIDED THAT COTRACTOR SHALL NOT 

ENTER INTO ANY SETTLEMENT OF SUCH A CLAIM THAT REQUIRES AN 

ADMISSION OF WRONGDOING BY AN INDEMNIFIED PARTY WITHOUT THAT 

PARTY'S CONSENT.  CONTRACTOR’S OBLIGATION TO PROVIDE 

INDEMNIFICATION IS CONTINGENT UPON RECEIVING TIMELY NOTICE OF THE 

CLAIM FROM THE CITY FOR WHICH THE CITY IS SEEKING INDEMNIFICATION, 

SUCH THAT THE DEFENSE OF THE CLAIM IS NOT PREJUDICED.  THE PARTY 

SEEKING INDEMNIFICATION WILL REASONABLY COOPERATE  WITH THE 

DEFENSE OF THE CLAIM. THE INDEMNIFIED PARTIES RESERVE THE RIGHT TO 

PROVIDE A PORTION OR ALL OF THEIR/ITS OWN DEFENSE, AT THEIR/ITS SOLE 

COST; HOWEVER, INDEMNIFIED PARTIES ARE UNDER NO OBLIGATION TO DO 

SO. ANY SUCH ACTION BY AN INDEMNIFIED PARTY IS NOT TO BE CONSTRUED 

AS A WAIVER OF CONTRACTOR’S OBLIGATION TO DEFEND INDEMNIFIED 

PARTIES OR AS A WAIVER OF CONTRACTOR’S OBLIGATION TO INDEMNIFY 

INDEMNIFIED PARTIES PURUSANT TO THIS AGREEMENT. CONTRACTOR 

SHALL RETAIN QUALIFIED DEFENSE COUNSEL WITHIN FOURTEEN (14) 

BUSINESS DAYS OF WRITTEN NOTICE FROM INDEMNIFIED PARTY THAT IT IS 

INVOKING ITS RIGHT TO INDEMNIFICATION UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. IF 



Page 18  

CONTRACTOR FAILS TO RETAIN COUNSEL WITHIN SUCH TIME PERIOD, 

INDEMNIFIED PARTIES SHALL HAVE THE RIGHT TO RETAIN DEFENSE 

COUNSEL ON THEIR OWN BEHALF. 

 

ANY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT THAT LIMITS THE 

CONTRACTOR’S LIABILITY TO THE CITY OR RELEASES CONTRACTOR FROM 

LIABILITY TO THE CITY FOR ACTUAL OR COMPENSATORY DAMAGES, LOSS, 

OR COSTS ARISING FROM THE PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT IS NOT 

APPLICABLE OR EFFECTIVE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. 
 

22. PERFORMANCE BOND: 

 

The Contractor shall furnish a performance bond as security for the faithful performance of this 

Agreement. Said performance bond will be in the amount of $20,000 and will be renewed on an 

annual basis. The Contractor shall pay premiums for the bond. A certificate from the surety 

showing that the bond premiums are paid in full shall accompany the bond. Such certificate shall 

be submitted to the City with the bond on an annual basis. The surety on the bond shall be a duly 

authorized corporate surety authorized to do business in the State of Texas. 

 

23. OWNERSHIP: 
 

Title to Waste shall pass to Contractor when placed in Contractor’s collection vehicle. 

Title to Unacceptable Waste shall remain with the generator of such Unacceptable Waste. 

 

24. SEVERABILITY: 

 

If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or rules that any part of this Agreement is 

invalid or unlawful, the remainder of the Agreement continues to be binding on the Parties. 

 

25. PRIOR AGREEMENTS: 

 

This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to 

the matter set forth herein. No provision of any other document, including any request for proposal, 

shall be deemed incorporated herein, it being the intent of the parties that this Agreement sets forth 

the full agreement of the parties with respect to the services described herein. No change, alteration 

or amendment will be binding on either party unless set forth in a document duly executed by all 

parties hereto. 

 

26. RECORDS: 

 

City and Contractor agree to maintain at their respective places of business adequate records relating 

to the performance of their respective duties under this Agreement. Such records shall be made available 

at any time during reasonable business hours for inspection by the other party, at the inspecting party’s 

expense, and upon reasonable advance notice; provided, however, only records directly relating to this 

Agreement and necessary to substantiate invoicing must be disclosed to the other party. 

 

27. ATTORNEY’S FEES AND LAW: 
 

The negotiation and interpretation of this Agreement shall be construed under and governed 



Page 19  

by the laws of the State of Texas, without regard to its choice of laws provisions.  Exclusive venue 

for any action under this Agreement shall be in Bexar County, Texas. The prevailing party in any 

lawsuit shall have the right to recover its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs from the non-

prevailing party.  
 

28. NOTICES: 
 

All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given pursuant to this 

Agreement shall be in writing and shall be considered as properly given (i) if mailed by first class 

United States mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified with return receipt requested, (ii) by 

delivering same in person to the intended addressee, (iii) by delivery to an independent third party 

commercial delivery service for same day or next day delivery and providing for evidence of 

receipt at the office of the intended addressee, or (iv) by prepaid telegram, telex, or facsimile to 

the addressee. Notice so mailed shall be effective upon its deposit with the United States Postal 

Service or any successor thereto; notice sent by such a commercial delivery service shall be 

effective upon delivery to such commercial delivery service; notice given by personal 

delivery shall be effective only if and when received by the addressee; and notice given by other 

means shall be effective only if and when received at the office or designated place or machine 

of the intended addressee. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, any notice 

of default under this agreement must be both (i) mailed by Certified Mail, Return Receipt 

Requested and (ii) faxed to the alleged defaulting party to constitute proper notice hereunder. 

For purposes of notice, the addresses of the parties shall be as set forth below; provided, however, 

that either party shall have the right to change its address for notice hereunder to any other location 

within the continental United States by the giving of thirty (30) days' notice to the other party in 

the manner set forth herein. 

 

If to the City, at: City of Universal City, Texas 

 2150 Universal City Blvd 

 Universal City, Texas 78148 
 

ATTN: City Manager 

 

If to the Contractor at: Waste Management of Texas, Inc. 
 

 

ATTN: Public Sector Manager 

 

with a copy to: CT Corporation System 

350 North St. Paul Street 

Dallas, Texas 75201 

 

or such other addresses as the parties may hereafter specify by written notice delivered in 

accordance herewith. 

 

29. DISCRIMINATION PROHIBITED: 
 

Contractor, in the execution, performance, or attempted performance of this Agreement, 

shall not discriminate against any person or persons because of sex, race, religion, color, or national 

origin.  Contractor must be an equal opportunity employer. 

 



Page 20  

 

30. DISASTER EVENT: 
 

Contractor and City understand and agree that, in the event of a hurricane, tornado, major storm, 

flood, natural disaster, war, act of terrorism, pandemic, or other Act of God (“Disaster Event”), 

Contractor shall have no obligation under this Agreement to collect any debris or material resulting 

from the Disaster Event. The City has the right to engage a contractor of its choice to collect 

material or debris resulting from a Disaster Event. The  parties reserve the right to enter into a 

separate, mutually acceptable written agreement for the collection of debris and material resulting 

from a Disaster Event.  

 

 

31. SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
 

Contractor shall donate to the City a one-thousand-dollar ($1,000.00) payment to each of 

the five (5) designated organizations (Citizens Police Academy Alumni Association, Friends of 

the Library Assn, Homes for the Homeless, Parks Partners, and Recycling Committee). 

Additionally, contractor will donate two thousand dollars ($2,000.00) to the City’s annual 

Snowfest event. The payments totaling seven thousand dollars ($7,000.00) will be made in January 

of each year. 

 

32. MULTIYEAR CONTRACTS  

 

If the City’s city council does not appropriate funds to make any payment for a fiscal year after 

the City’s fiscal year in which the Agreement becomes effective, then the Agreement automatically 

terminates at the beginning of the first day of the successive fiscal year.  (Section 5, Article XI, 

Texas Constitution). It is understood and agreed the City shall have the right to terminate the 

Agreement at the end of any City fiscal year if the city council does not appropriate funds sufficient 

to continue the Contract, as determined by the City’s budget for the fiscal year in question.  The 

City may execute such termination by giving Contractor a written notice of termination at the end 

of its then current fiscal year. 

 

33. ABANDONEMENT OR DEFAULT 

 

A Contractor who abandons or defaults the work on the contract shall be considered disqualified 

in any re-advertisement of the service and may not be considered for the same type of work for a 

period of three years. 

 

34. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

 

Contractor is an independent contractor, and, except as provided otherwise in this section, neither 

Contractor, nor any employee or agent thereof, shall be deemed for any reason to be an employee 

or agent of the City.  City shall have no liability or responsibility for any direct payment of any 

salaries, wages, payroll taxes, or any and all other forms or types of compensation or benefits to 

any personnel performing services for City under this Agreement. Contractor shall be solely 

responsible for all compensation, benefits, insurance and employment-related rights of any 

person providing Services hereunder during the course of or arising or accruing as a result of any 

employment, whether past or present, with Contractor.   

 



Page 21  

35. AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE 

 

The person or persons executing this Agreement represent and warrant that they are fully 

authorized to sign and so execute this Agreement and to bind their respective entities to the 

performance of its obligations hereunder. 

 

36. TEXAS GOVERNMENT CODE/PROHIBITION OF BOYCOTT ISRAEL 

Contractor verifies that it does not Boycott Israel and agrees that during the term of this Agreement 

will not Boycott Israel as that term is defined in Texas Government Code Section 

808.001/2270.001, as amended. 

 

37. DISCLOSURE OF BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP/AFFILIATIONS; CONFLICT OF 

INTEREST QUESTIONNAIRE 

 

Contractor represents that it is in compliance with the applicable filing and disclosure requirements 

of Chapter 176 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

 

38.  WAIVER 

 

Failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not be deemed a waiver of that 

provision.  Waiver of any right or power arising out of this Agreement shall not be deemed 

waiver of any other right or power. 

 

39. SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY 

 

Any provision of the Agreement that seeks to waive the City’s immunity from suit and/or 

immunity from liability is void. 

 

40. CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES (TEC FORM 1295) 

 

For contracts needing City Council approval, the City may not accept or enter into a contract until it 

has received from the Contractor a completed, signed, and notarized TEC Form 1295 complete with a 

certificate number assigned by the Texas Ethics Commission (“TEC”), pursuant to Texas Government 

Code § 2252.908 and the rules promulgated thereunder by the TEC.  The Contractor understands that 

failure to provide said form complete with a certificate number assigned by the TEC may prohibit the 

City from entering the Contract. 

 

Pursuant to the rules prescribed by the TEC, the TEC Form 1295 must be completed online 

through the TEC’s website, assigned a certificate number, printed, signed and notarized, and 

provided to the City.  The TEC Form 1295 may accompany the bid or may be submitted 

separately but must be provided to the City prior to the award of the contract.  Neither the City 

nor its consultants can verify the information included in a TEC Form 1295, and neither have an 

obligation nor undertake responsibility for advising any Contractor with respect to the proper 

completion of the TEC Form 1295. 

 

41. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

 

This Agreement, along with attached exhibits, constitutes the complete, entire and final 

agreement of the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof, and shall supersede any 



Page 22  

and all previous communications, representations, whether oral or written, with respect to the 

subject matter hereof.  Invalidation of any of the provisions of this Agreement or any paragraph 

sentence, clause, phrase, or word herein or the application thereof in any given circumstance 

shall not affect the validity of any other provision of this Agreement. 

 

42. TAX EXEMPTION 

 

The City is not liable to Contractor for any federal, state or local taxes for which the City is not 

liable by law, including state and local sales and use taxes (Section 151.309 and Title 3, Texas 

Tax Code) and federal excise tax (Subtitle D of the Internal Revenue Code).  Accordingly, those 

taxes may not be added to any item purchased for consumption by the City.  Fuel purchased for 

resale shall include Federal Excise Tax under IRC Section 4081 and Texas Motor Fuel Tax if 

required under the Texas Tax Code Chapter 162.  Texas limited sales tax exemption certificates 

will be furnished upon request.  Contractor shall not charge for said taxes on purchases for 

consumption by the City.  If billed, the City will remit payment less sales tax. 

 

43. COUNTERPARTS: 

 

This Agreement and any amendments may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall 

be deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument.  For purposes of 

executing this Agreement, scanned signatures shall be as valid as the original. 

 

44. EXHIBITS 

 

All exhibits to this Agreement are incorporated herein by reference for all purposes wherever reference is 

made to the same. 

 
 

 



Page 23  

 

EFFECTIVE AS OF THE DAY OF _, 2021. 

 
 

CITY: CONTRACTOR: 

 

UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS WASTE MANAGEMENT OF TEXAS, INC. 
 

 

BY: BY:    

John Williams, Mayor ITS:    
 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk 

City of Universal City, Texas 



Page 24 
 

SCHEDULE A 

(Base Rates) 
 

 
RESIDENTIAL 

UNITS 
FREQUENCY OF COLLECTION Base 

RATE 
1- WM Provided 96 Gallon Waste Cart - Curbside 2x week $ 21.06 

1- WM Provided 96 Gallon Recycle Cart - Curbside 1x week Included 

Household Hazardous Waste Collection - At Your Door Unlimited Included 

Brush Waste (6 CY Allowance) - Curbside 2x year Included 

Bulk Waste (Fall & Spring Cleanup) - Convenience Station 2x year Included 

Each Additional WM 96 Gal Cart (Trash or Recycle) -- $ 8.55 

Pink Tag/Sticker --    $              1.80  

*Residential Unit rates and charges DO NOT include any current or future City mandated franchise, administrative, or billing fee. 

 

 
LIGHT COMMERCIAL UNIT TRASH COLLECTION RATES PER CONTAINER PER MONTH 

 

Container Size / Type 1XWK 2XWK 3XWK 4XWK 5XWK 6XWK EXTRA PU 

Poly Cart PU (1 Cart) $ 24.98 $ 49.84 -- -- -- -- -- 

Poly Cart PU (2 Carts) $ 49.84 $ 99.89 -- -- -- -- -- 

Poly Cart PU (3 Carts) $ 74.92 $ 149.84 -- -- -- -- -- 

Poly Cart PU (4 Carts) $ 99.89 $ 199.77 -- -- -- -- -- 

 

 
COMMERCIAL UNIT TRASH COLLECTION RATES PER CONTAINER PER MONTH 

 

Container Size / Type 1XWK 2XWK 3XWK 4XWK 5XWK 6XWK EXTRA PU 

2 Yard FEL Container $ 49.36 $ 98.72 $148.09 $197.98 $246.24 $246.31 $ 49.36 

3 Yard FEL Container $ 74.03 $ 125.87 $22.13 $296.16 $370.21 $310.99 $ 74.03 

4 Yard FEL Container $ 83.91 $ 197.44 $296.16 $394.90 $493.90 $592.60 $ 83.91 

6 Yard FEL Container $ 113.28 $ 251.74 $444.25 $592.32 $740.41 $887.86 $ 113.28 

8-Yard FEL Container $ 167.83 $ 335.65 $503.47 $641.82 $839.12 $984.24 $ 167.83 

10 Yard FEL Container $ 246.66 $ 493.57 $740.41 $987.15 $1,233.94 $1,492.28 $ 246.66 

 
COMMERCIAL UNIT RECYCLING COLLECTION RATES PER CONTAINER PER MONTH 

 

Container Size / Type 1XWK 2XWK 3XWK 4XWK 5XWK 6XWK EXTRA PU 

2 Yard FEL Container $ 95.16 $ 190.32 -- -- -- -- $ 95.16 

3 Yard FEL Container $ 108.34 $ 216.67 -- -- -- -- $ 108.34 

4 Yard FEL Container $ 144.62 $ 289.24 -- -- -- -- $ 144.62 

6 Yard FEL Container $ 216.93 $ 433.86 -- -- -- -- $ 216.93 

8-Yard FEL Container $ 289.24 $ 578.49 -- -- -- -- $ 289.24 

10 Yard FEL Container $ 362.14 $ 724.28 -- -- -- -- $ 362.14 



Page 25 
 

 

INDUSTRIAL UNIT ROLL-OFF COLLECTION RATES 
 

Container Size / Type Collection Rate 

20 Yard (Open-Top) $ 503.17 

30 Yard (Open-Top) $ 545.73 

40 Yard (Open-Top) $ 572.15 
 

Roll-Off Delivery (One Time) $ 100.00 

Roll-Off Rental Fee (Per Month) $                              150.00 

Roll-Off Rental Fee (Per Day) $ 5.00 

*Each Additional 40 Yard (Open-Top) Pull for 
Fall/Spring Cleanup  

  $                                503.17 

 

Container Size / Type Collection Rate 

20 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

30 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

32 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

34 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

35 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

40 Yard (Compactor) $ 597.58 

42 Yard (Compactor) $ 597.58 
 

Compactor Rental Fee (Per Month) NEGOTIATED 

Disposal Type I Landfill (Per Ton) $ 39.00 

*All Rates and charges (except Residential Unit rates) INCLUDE any current or future City mandated franchise, administrative, or billing fee. 



Page 26 

SCHEDULE B 

City Facilities Services and Equipment 

Facility Name Address Container Size Container Type Service Frequency 

Red Horse Park 1100 North Blvd. 3 YD SEL Trash 2x week 

Public Works Yard 265 Kitty Hawk 8 YD FEL Recycle 1x week 

Public Works Yard 266 Kitty Hawk 4 YD FEL Trash 1x week 

City Hall 2150 Universal City Blvd. 8 YD FEL Trash 2x week 

Olympia Hills Golf Course 12900 Mt. Olympus 8 YD (2 total) FEL Trash 2x week 

Olympia Hills Golf Course 12901 Mt. Olympus 8 YD FEL Recycle 1x week 

Cimarron Park 368 Wagon Crossing 96 Gal (4 total) Polycart(s) 2x week 

Universal City Library 100 Northview 3 YD FEL Trash 2x week 

Northview Park 100 Randolph Plaza Dr. 96 Gal (4 total) Polycart(s) 2x week 

Animal Shelter 134 Athenian Dr. 6 YD FEL 2x week 



Page 27 

SCHEDULE C 



Page 28 



Page 29 
 

 

 



Page 30 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 



Page 31 
 

 



Page 32 
 

 
 



Page 33 
 

 

At Your Door Special Collection is a service of Waste Management. Collection services will be provided by a properly licensed/permitted subsidiary of 

Waste Management. ©WM Curbside, LLC. All rights reserved. At Your Door and At Your Door Special Collection are service marks of WM Intellectual 

Property Holdings, LLC. 2017-046 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



    ORDINANCE NUMBER: 525-U-2021 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS, REPEALING ORDINANCES 525 THRU 

ORDINANCE 525-T-2019 (CITY CODE OF ORDINACNES CHAPTER 2-

3, SECTION 2-3-1 THRU SECTION 2-3-29) IN THEIR ENTIRETY AND 

ADOPTING NEW PROVISIONS REGARDING THE COLLECTION AND 

DISPOSITION OF SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLE MATERIAL IN 

THE CITY; ESTABLISHING A CITY-WIDE COLLECTION, 

TRANSPORTATION AND DISPOSAL PROGRAM; AUTHORIZING 

EXECUTION OF A COMPREHENSIVE AGREEMENT GRANTING 

WASTE MANAGEMENT OF TEXAS, INC. AN EXCLUSIVE 

FRANCHISE TO OPERATE A SOLID WASTE COLLECTION AND 

DISPOSAL SERVICE IN THE CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS; 

ESTABLISHING PENALTIES NOT TO EXCEED $2000.00 PER 

OFFENSE; PROVIDING THAT THIS ORDINANCE SHALL BE 

CUMULATIVE; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Universal City, Texas (“City”) is a Texas Home Rule City 

possessing the full power of local self-government pursuant to Article 11, Section 5 of the Texas 

constitution, Section 51.072 of the Texas Local Government Code, and the City’s Home Rule 

Charter; and  

WHEREAS, the City finds it is necessary to regulate the collection, conveyance, 

transportation and disposal of residential, household, commercial and industrial solid wastes 

within the city limits of Universal City, Texas to insure the safety and well-being of the city and 

its citizens and to protect environmental resources including soil, air and water; and 

WHEREAS, the City is responsible to protect its citizens against nuisances derived from 

solid waste by providing solid waste handling services including, but not limited to, recycling 

and the collection, transfer and disposal of solid waste; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 363 of the Texas Health and Safety Code, the City is 

authorized to determine all aspects of solid waste handling which are of local concern, including, 

but not limited to, frequency of collection, means of collection and transportation, level of 

services, charges and fees, and nature, location and extent of providing solid waste handling 

services; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Texas Health and Safety Code Section 364.033, the City is 

authorized to contract with a private contractor to furnish solid waste collection, transportation, 

handling, storage, or disposal services; and 

WHEREAS, Local Government Code Section 252.022(a)(2) provides that a purchase 

necessary to preserve or protect the public health or safety of the city’s residents is excepted 

from the competitive purchasing requirements; and 



WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Universal City has determined that it is in 

the public interest for the City to grant an exclusive franchise to provide for the satisfactory and 

efficient service to maintain safe and sanitary conditions within the City; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is in the best interest of the City to 

grant such franchise to Waste Management of Texas, Inc. (“Contractor”) and authorizes entering 

into an Agreement with Contractor granting an exclusive franchise beginning ____________, 

2021, and concluding July 31, 2026, to provide for the satisfactory and efficient service to 

maintain safe and sanitary conditions within the City; and 

WHEREAS, the Agreement establishes rates for collection of solid waste for all 

residences and businesses in the City; and 

WHEREAS, since the inception of the franchise granted to Waste Management by the 

City in Ordinance 525, continuing with several amendments to the contract ending with 

Ordinance 525-T-2019, the City Council now believes it in the best interests of the City to adopt 

regulations as prescribed herein.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

UNIVERSAL CITY, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1.  Recitals. All the above premises are found to be true and correct legislative 

determinations and are hereby incorporated into the body of this Ordinance as if copied in their 

entirety. 

 

SECTION 2. Solid Waste Program. City of Universal City’s solid waste collection, 

transportation and disposal program is hereby established for all residents and businesses of the 

City of Universal City, Texas.  

 

SECTION 3. Code of Ordinances Amended. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Universal 

City, Part II, Chapter 2-3, Section 2-3-1 thru Section 2-3-29 is hereby amended by deleting said 

sections in their entirety and replacing it with new Chapter 2-3, Section 2-3-1 thru Section 2-3-14 

including Schedules A-C as provided in the attached EXHIBIT A, incorporated fully herein.  

 

SECTION 3. The Agreement. The City Council hereby grants the exclusive franchise for solid 

waste collection, transportation and disposal to Waste Management, Inc. as provided in the 

Agreement attached hereto as EXIBIT B, incorporated fully herein.  

 

SECTION 4. Authorization.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to take all 

other steps reasonably necessary to facilitate the purpose of this ordinance. 

 

SECTION 5. Continuation clause.  All provisions of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Universal City not herein amended or repealed shall remain in full force and effect.  

 

SECTION 6.  Repealer clause.  All other ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are hereby repealed to the extent that they are in conflict. 

 



SECTION 7. Severability clause.  If any provisions of this ordinance shall be held void or 

unconstitutional, it is hereby provided that all other parts of the same which are not held void or 

unconstitutional shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

SECTION 8. This Ordinance shall be construed shall be construed and enforced in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Texas and the United States of America. 

 

SECTION 9. It is officially found, determined, and declared that the meeting at which this 

Ordinance is adopted was open to the public and public notice of the time, place, and subject 

matter of the public business to be considered at such meeting, including this Ordinance, was 

given, all as required by Chapter 551, as amended, Texas Government Code. 

 

SECTION 10.  Effective Date.  This ordinance will take effect upon its passage, approval and 

publication as provided by law. 

 

PASSED, on first reading by the City Council of the City of Universal City on this the ____ 

day of ________ 2021. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED, on second reading by the City Council of the City of Universal 

City on this the ____ of _______ 2021. 

 

 

       UNIVERSAL CITY 

       

                                              ______________________________ 

       John Williams, Mayor 

 

Attest:      Approved as to form: 

     

_________________________   _______________________________ 

Kristin Mueller, City Clerk    Matthew J. Longoria, City Attorney 



EXHIBIT A 

 

Chapter 2-3 - GARBAGE AND TRASH COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL of the City of 

Universal City Code of Ordinances is hereby amended as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-3-1. – Solid Waste Program Established. 

 

The City’s solid waste collection, transportation and disposal program is hereby established for 

all residents and businesses of the City of Universal City, Texas. 

 

Sec. 2-3-2. – Purpose. 

 

The accumulation of garbage, recyclable material, rubbish, brush and other refuse constitutes a 

public nuisance, a health hazard, a fire hazard and a safety hazard. Therefore, it shall be required 

that owners and tenants of private residences, private commercial buildings and businesses, and 

the occupants of all private noncommercial buildings which accumulate refuse, deposit their 

garbage, rubbish, brush, and other refuse for removal by the agent designated by the city. Such 

owners, renters and occupants shall maintain the premises of the buildings and property free of 

accumulations of all other waste materials and nuisance materials. Such owners, renters and 

occupants shall not allow materials intended for recycling to create a nuisance on the premises of 

buildings and properties. All waste materials shall be disposed of in a place and by methods 

deemed appropriate by the City. The purpose of this chapter is to provide for a method of 

collecting and disposing of garbage, recyclable material, rubbish, brush, and other refuse, and to 

maintain neighborhood quality and aesthetics and maintenance of property values by providing 

for the general health and welfare. 

 

Sec. 2-3-3. – Services of Franchisee Required. 

 

It is hereby prohibited for any individual to utilize the services of any individual or corporation 

for purposes of residential solid waste collection other than the City’s designated solid waste 

franchisee. Every residential occupant shall subscribe to the services of the franchisee having the 

exclusive franchise for collection and disposal service with the City. It is declared to be unlawful 

for the occupant of any of the premises described in this section to fail or neglect to provide for 

the removal of solid waste as required under this Chapter. 

 

Sec. 2-3-4. - Definitions.  

 

For the purpose of this chapter, certain terms and words are hereby defined. Terms and words not 

specifically defined shall be construed with common usage and meaning or as defined by state or 

federal agencies having oversight jurisdiction:  

 

At Your Door (AYD) Program: A special collection service provided by Contractor or its 

affiliate to residents for the collection of difficult, sometimes hazardous and hard-to-recycle 

items generated by a household.  



Page 5 

 

 

  Bag: A plastic sack no more than 33 gallons in size designed to store Waste with sufficient 

wall strength to maintain physical integrity when lifted by the top to which a Customer may affix 

a Pink Tag and place curbside for collection. 

Brush: Tree, shrub, grass, brush trimmings, leaves, limbs, shrubbery and other yard waste 

and green material securely tied together to form an easily handled bundle or placed in that is 

generated by or at Residential Unit Customer locations and placed curbside for collection. Limbs 

shall not exceed four feet (4’) in length or six inches (6”) in diameter. 

Bulk Waste: Furniture, bicycles (without tires), refrigerators that have CFCs removed by a 

certified technician, stoves, and other oversized wastes which are customary to ordinary 

housekeeping operations of a Residential Unit and whose large size precludes or complicates its 

handling by normal solid waste collection, processing or disposal methods.  

City: The City of Universal City, Texas. 

Commercial Unit: All commercial businesses and establishments, including, but not limited 

to, stores, offices, restaurants, warehouses, and related facilities, premises, locations or entities, 

public or private, within the corporate limits of the City. 

Commercial Waste: All Garbage, Waste, and Rubbish generated by a Commercial Unit, 

excluding Unacceptable Waste. 

Construction Debris: Waste building materials resulting from construction, remodeling, 

repair, or demolition operations that are directly or indirectly the by-products of construction 

work or that result from demolition of buildings or other structures, but specifically excluding 

land-clearing debris, yard debris, or used asphalt, asphalt mixed with dirt, sand, gravel, rock, 

concrete, or similar materials. 

Contract Administrator: That person, or his designee, designated by the City to administer 

and monitor the provisions of this Chapter. 

Contractor: The entity or agent designated and authorized as exclusive Franchisee by the 

City to administer this Chapter. 

Customer: The owner or tenant of a Residential Unit, Industrial Unit, or Commercial Unit 

located within the City, and identified by the City as being eligible for and in need of the services 

provided by the Contractor under this Chapter. 

Dead Animals: Animals or portions thereof that have expired from any cause except those 

slaughtered or killed for human use. 

Disposal Site: A duly permitted sanitary landfill selected by Contractor. 

Dumpster: Metal receptacle designed to be lifted and emptied mechanically for use only at 

Commercial Units or Industrial Units. 

Garbage: Solid Waste consisting of putrescible or animal and vegetable waste materials 

resulting from the handling, preparation, cooking, and consumption of food, including waste 

materials from markets, storage facilities, handling and sale of produce and other food products, 

and all Dead Animals of less than ten pounds (10 lbs.) in weight, except those slaughtered for 

human consumption. 



Page 6 

 

 

Hazardous Waste: Any material or waste identified or listed as a hazardous waste by the 

administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency under the Federal Solid Waste Disposal 

Act as amended by RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §6901, et. seq., as amended. 

Industrial Unit: All industrial businesses and establishments, including manufacturing 

facilities, temporary construction sites, and other premises, locations or entities, public or 

private, within the corporate limits of the City. 

Industrial Waste: Solid Waste resulting from or incidental to any process of industry, 

manufacturing, construction, demolition, mining or agricultural operations. Industrial Waste 

includes Construction Debris, but excludes Unacceptable Waste. 

Light Commercial Unit: A retail or light commercial type of business, which generates no 

more than one (1) cubic yard of Garbage, Rubbish, and Refuse per week, excluding 

Unacceptable Waste. 

Medical Waste. Waste generated by health care related facilities and associated with health 

care activities, not including Garbage or Rubbish generated from offices, kitchens, or other non-

health-care activities. The term includes Special Waste from health care-related facilities which 

is comprised of animal waste, bulk blood and blood products, microbiological waste, 

pathological waste, and sharps as those terms are defined in 25 TAC §1.132 (relating to 

Definitions). 

Non-Recyclables: Any materials in the Single Stream Materials that are not Recyclables. 

Pink Tag: A tag or adhesive sticker developed, produced, and sold by the City to 

Residential Customers to affix on to a bag into which Waste has been deposited and then the bag 

has been placed curbside for Contractor to collect on that resident’s regular collection day.   

Polycart: A Contractor owned rubber-wheeled receptacle with a maximum capacity of 90 - 

96 gallons constructed of plastic, metal and/or fiberglass, designed for automated or semi-

automated solid waste or recyclables collection systems, and having a tight-fitting lid capable of 

preventing entrance into the container by small animals.  

Recyclable Materials or Recyclables: A material that has been recovered or diverted from 

the non-hazardous waste stream for purposes of reuse, recycling, or reclamation, a substantial 

portion of which is consistently used in the manufacture of products that may otherwise by 

produced using raw or virgin materials. Recyclable Material is not solid waste. However, 

Recyclable Material may become Solid Waste at such time, if any, as it is abandoned or disposed 

of rather than recycled, whereupon it will be solid waste, with respect to the party actually 

abandoning or disposing of such material. 

Residential Unit: A residential dwelling, such as a home, townhouse or condominium unit, 

within the service area of the City occupied by a person or group of persons comprising not more 

than four families and serviced through the collection of Polycarts. A Residential Unit shall be 

deemed occupied when either water or domestic light and power services are being supplied 

thereto. 

Residential Waste: All Garbage, Rubbish and Waste generated by a Customer at a 

Residential Unit, excluding Unacceptable Waste and Construction Debris generated by a Third-

Party Provider. 



Page 7 

 

 

Rubbish: Nonputrescible Solid Waste (excluding ashes), consisting of both combustible and 

noncombustible waste materials. Combustible rubbish includes paper, rags, cartons, wood, wood 

shavings, furniture, rubber, plastics, yard trimmings, leaves, brush or similar materials; 

noncombustible rubbish includes glass, crockery, tin cans, aluminum cans, metal furniture, and 

similar materials that will not burn at ordinary incinerator temperatures (1,600 degrees 

Fahrenheit to 1,800 degrees Fahrenheit). 

Single Stream Materials: means all materials deposited by a Customer in the Customer’s 

Recycling Cart, including any Recyclables and Non- Recyclables. 

Solid Waste or Waste: Non-hazardous solid waste generated by a Customer at a Residential 

Unit to be collected by Contractor under this Ordinance. Solid Waste excludes Unacceptable 

Waste. 

Special Waste: Waste that requires special handling and management due to the nature of 

the waste, including, but not limited to, the following: (A) containerized waste (e.g. a drum, 

barrel, portable tank, box, pail, etc.), (B) waste transported in bulk tanker, (C) liquid waste, (D) 

sludge waste, (E) waste from an industrial process, (F) waste from a pollution control process, 

(G) residue and debris from the cleanup of a spill or release of chemical(s), or (H) any other 

waste defined by applicable law, rule or regulation as "Special Waste". 

Third-Party Provider: A commercial business enterprise or third party that provides any 

type of services to Residential Units or construction sites. 

Unacceptable Waste: Any waste or material that (i) the acceptance and handling of which 

by Contractor would cause a violation of any permit, condition, legal or regulatory requirement, 

(ii) substantial damage to Contractor's equipment or facilities, or (iii) contains information (in 

hard copy or electronic format) that is protected or regulated under any local, state or federal 

privacy or data security laws, including without limitation, the Health Insurance Portability and 

Accountability Act (HIPAA), or (iv) presents a danger to the health or safety of the public or 

Contractor's employees, and/or (v) is or contains Hazardous Waste, Special Waste, untreated 

Medical Waste, Dead Animals weighing ten pounds (10 lbs.) or greater, or (vi) is or contains 

solid or dissolved material in domestic sewage, or solid or dissolved material in irrigation return 

flows, or industrial discharges subject to regulation by permit, or (vii) is soil, dirt, rock, sand, and 

other natural or man-made inert solid materials used to fill land if the object of the fill is to make 

the land suitable for the construction of surface improvements, or (viii) results from activities 

associated with the exploration, development, or production of oil or gas or geothermal 

resources. 

Unusual Accumulations or Overage: As to Residential Units, any Waste placed curbside 

for collection or placed outside, on top of or sticking out of a Polycart, other than Bags with a 

Pink Tag affixed to them. As to Commercial Units and Industrial Units, (i) any Waste or other 

material placed on top of or located outside the Dumpster, Roll- off Bin or Compactor regularly 

used for such collection service or (ii) in excess of the applicable weight limits or intended 

capacity such that the lid will not completely close. 

 

 

 

 



Page 8 

Sec. 2-3-5. – Collection Services. 

A. Residential Collection: A Residential Unit Customer may request an additional Polycart and 

Contractor must provide an additional Cart at the rate set forth in Schedule A. A Residential Unit 

Customer may purchase a Pink Tag from the City and affix the Pink Tag to a Bag of Waste. 

Contractor will collect properly placed Bags that have a Pink Tag affixed thereto on the 

Residential Unit Customer’s regular collection day. 

(a) Contractor shall collect Residential Waste generated at a Residential Unit and 

placed in that Residential Unit’s Waste Polycart two times per week, but not 

less than three days between collection times within the same week. The 

Contractor shall not be obligated to collect any Waste not properly contained 

in the Customer’s Waste Polycart. 

(b) Construction Debris generated at a Residential Unit by the owner or tenant of 

that Residential Unit, and not using the services of a Third-Party Provider, 

shall be subject to the Bulky Waste limitations set forth in this Ordinance. 

Any Waste or Bulky Waste generated by an owner or tenant, or a Third-Party 

Provider is Commercial Waste and Contractor has no obligation to collect 

those materials. 

B. Brush Collection: Contractor shall provide a twice per year collection service in the months 

of October and April to Residential Units for collection of Brush. Contractor agrees to collect up 

to, but not to exceed, a total of six (6) cubic yards of Brush from each Residential Unit. 

Contractor shall have no obligation to collect any Brush in excess of the above volume, Brush 

shall be placed within three (3) feet of the curb, swale, paved surface of the roadway, closest 

accessible roadway, or other location agreed to by Contractor and Customer, 

that will provide safe and efficient accessibility to Contractor's collection crew and vehicle 

Collection of Curbside Residential Unit Bulky Waste is not included. Construction Debris 

generated by a Third-Party Provider hired by a Residential Unit Customer and generated and/or 

located at that Residential Unit is considered and shall be treated as Commercial Waste. 

C. Residential Door-to-Truck Service: Contractor will provide, at no cost to the City or the 

Residential Customer, Residential Door-To-Truck waste collection for up to 20 Residential 

Customers that the City determines have demonstrated a need or hardship necessitating this 

special service. The City has sole responsibility for determining which Residential Unit 

Customers qualify for this special service. The City will provide Contractor with a complete list 

of qualifying Customers’ addresses each time a modification is made. Door-to-Truck collection 

service means the Customer places their Waste Polycart near their garage or carport rather than 

curbside. Contractor may refuse to provide this service if the location of the Polycart exceeds 

150 feet from the curb line or edge of pavement and no such service will be provided for Bulky 

Waste or Brush collection. 



Page 9 

 

 

D. Residential Recyclables Collection: 

 

(a) Contractor shall collect Residential Unit Recyclables once per week, per an agreed 

upon schedule with the City. Residential Unit Customers must place all Recyclables 

into the Recycling Cart. Contractor shall not be required to collect any Recyclable 

Materials that are not placed in a Recycling Cart. In addition, Contractor shall not be 

required to collect Recyclable Materials if the Customer does not segregate the 

Recyclable Materials from the remainder of the Residential Waste. 

 

(b) Recyclables Specifications: The following are Recyclables that Customers may 

deposit into the Recyclables Carts. To be acceptable, the Recyclables must be dry, 

loose (not bagged), unshredded, empty and include only the following: 

 

Aluminum cans Newspaper 

PET bottles with the symbol #1 – with 

screw tops only 

Mail 

HDPE plastic bottles with the symbol #2 

(milk, water bottles detergent, and 

shampoo bottles, etc.) 

Uncoated paperboard (ex. cereal boxes; food and 

snack boxes) 

PP plastic bottles and tubs with symbol # 

5 - empty 

Uncoated printing, writing and office paper 

Steel and tin cans Old corrugated containers/cardboard (uncoated) 

Glass food and beverage containers – 

brown, clear, or green 

Magazines, glossy inserts and pamphlets 

 

Non-Recyclables include, but are not limited to, the following: 

 

Plastic bags and bagged materials 

(even if containing Recyclables) 

Microwavable trays 

Porcelain and ceramics Light bulbs, Mirrors 

Window or auto glass Coated cardboard 

Soiled paper, including paper 

plates, cups and pizza boxes 

Plastics not listed above including but not limited to 

those with symbols #3, #4, #6, #7 and unnumbered 

plastics, including utensils 

Expanded polystyrene Coat hangers 

Glass and metal 

cookware/bakeware 

Household appliances and electronics 

Hoses, cords, wires Yard waste, construction debris, and wood 

Flexible plastic or film packaging 

and multi-laminated materials 

Needles, syringes, IV bags or other medical supplies 

Food waste and liquids, containers 

containing such items 

Textiles, cloth, or any fabric (bedding, pillows, sheets, 

etc.) 

Excluded Materials or containers 

which contained Excluded 

Materials 

Napkins, paper towels, tissue, paper plates, paper 

cups, and plastic utensils 



Page 10 

Any paper Recyclable materials or 

pieces of paper Recyclables less 

than 4” in size in any dimension 

Propane tanks, batteries 

Cartons Aseptic Containers 

(c) Delivery Specifications. Residential Unit Customers shall deposit only the 

Recyclables listed above into their Recyclables Carts. If a load of material does not 

meet these specifications, the Recycling Facility may reject the load and the City may 

be charged for the resulting transportation, handling, and disposal costs for the Non- 

Recyclables. The Recycling Facility or Contractor has the right to dispose of all 

residue, contamination, and Non-Recyclables resulting from or remaining after the 

processing of the materials collected from the Recyclables Carts. The City 

acknowledges that Contractor may face unforeseen charges or increases based on the 

recycling market, the quality of the materials collected within the City, and/or 

uncontrollable circumstances, including without limitation, changes in law, and the 

City agrees to pay these charges so long as Contractor provides the City with written 

documentation explaining or justifying the increase prior to the City’s payment.  

(d) Recycling Market Changes: The market for Recyclables continues to evolve and is 

volatile. As such, Contractor cannot make any representations as to the marketability of 

the Recyclables, and when no reasonable commercial market exists for a commodity, 

Contractor and/or the Recycling Facility reserves the right to dispose of that material. 

Contractor also reserves the right to add or delete materials from the list of Recyclables 

based upon requests or demands from the Recycling Facility, changes in market 

conditions, uncontrollable circumstances, governmental restraint, or changes in laws, 

rules, regulations, or ordinances, and Contractor will provide written notice to the City 

of those changes. The Recycling Facility reserves the right to dispose of particular 

Recyclables when no reasonable commercial market exists for a commodity. The City 

and Contractor may agree to amend the terms of the recycling portion to reflect the 

current market or legal conditions. 

E. Carts/Polycarts/Placement: 

(a) Contractor agrees to provide one (1) Waste Polycart and (1) Recycling Polycart to each 

Residential Unit for the deposit of Waste and Recyclables. The Carts shall be placed by 

the Customer of a Residential Unit in a location that is readily accessible to Contractor 

and its collection equipment, not to exceed three (3) feet from the curb or edge of the 

travelled portion of the street, road or alley, and not to be located in a manner that will 

block the driveway or mailbox or otherwise inhibit proper servicing. The City shall aid 

Contractor in resolving problems of Cart location by the Customer. Customers shall not 

overload Carts, and the Carts shall be loaded such that the lids shall close securely. 

(b) Contractor shall not be required to collect (i) any Residential Waste or Recyclables that 

are not placed in a Polycart, (ii) any Residential Waste or Recyclables from a Polycart 

that is overloaded or whose lid cannot fully close, or (iii) a Polycart that is not properly 

placed curbside. Contractor shall have no obligation to collect Unusual 



Page 11 

 

 

Accumulations/Overage and may charge for the collection of same so long as 

Contractor provides a digital image or photograph of the Overage to the Residential 

Unit Customer upon request. 

 

(c) The Carts furnished by the Contractor hereunder shall remain the property of 

Contractor, and the Customer will have no interest in the Carts. The Carts shall remain 

at the location of the Residential Unit where delivered by Contractor. If a Cart is 

damaged beyond repair, the Contractor must provide a replacement Cart to the 

Residential Unit location at no charge. Any Cart removed from, lost or missing from a 

Customer location may be deemed lost, and Contractor must provide a replacement 

Cart at a cost of $70.00 per Cart to the City. The City may pass through the 

Contractor’s replacement Cart charge to the Residential Unit Customer at the City’s 

option. 

 

F. Residential Household Special Waste Collection Program: Contractor agrees to provide a 

residential household hazardous waste collection service pursuant to the terms set forth in 

Schedule C, the At-Your-Door Program. 

 

G. Commercial and Industrial Unit Collection: Contractor shall have the exclusive right to 

collect and transport Commercial Waste from the Commercial Units and Industrial Waste from  

 the Industrial Units, respectively, utilizing Dumpsters, Compactors or Roll Off Bins, at such 

frequency as shall be reasonably requested and agreed to between the Customer and Contractor. 

The Dumpster, Compactor or Roll Off Bin shall be located on a concrete pad to accommodate 

equipment and at a location reasonably acceptable to Contractor. Contractor may, at its sole 

option, require Commercial or Industrial Unit Customers to enter individual contracts with 

Contractor, subject to the terms of this Agreement. If additional Roll Off Bins, Compactors, 

Dumpsters or collection services are needed by Commercial or Industrial Unit Customers beyond 

what Contractor can provide, the City and Contractor, upon mutual written agreement, may 

allow Contractor to use a third party to assist Contractor in providing the needed waste 

equipment or services hereunder on a temporary basis.  

 

H. Unusual Accumulations Collection/Overage: Contractor shall have no obligation to collect 

Unusual Accumulations/Overage and may charge for the collection of same so long as 

Contractor provides a digital image or photograph of the Overage to the Commercial or 

Industrial Unit Customer upon request. 

 

I. Unacceptable Waste: Contractor shall not be obligated to collect any Unacceptable Waste. 

Title to Unacceptable Waste shall not pass to Contractor, and liability for any Unacceptable 

Waste shall remain with the generator of such material. 

 

J. Services Provided to City or City Facilities: 

 

(a) The Contractor will provide, at no charge, Waste collection services two times per 

week, but not less than three days between collection times within the same week, at 

the City facilities listed in Schedule B. The Waste containers provided at each City 

facility will be of the size and type appropriate to the volume and characteristics of the 



Page 12 

 

 

Waste and as set forth in Schedule B. Additional or new City facilities or buildings will 

only be serviced by Contractor at no charge upon the mutual written agreement of both 

parties. 

 

(b) Contractor will provide to the City, at no additional charge, two (2) thirty cubic yard 

Roll-Off container at a location determined by the City Public Works Department and 

agreed to by Contractor. Contractor will provide a maximum of 180 prescheduled pulls 

each calendar year at no charge to the City. These 180 Roll-Off pulls must be used 

during each calendar year and may not be accumulated and rolled into the following 

calendar year. The weight of the Roll-Off shall not exceed eight (8) tons per pull. The 

City is required to electronically notify the Contractor of the requested pull(s) for the 

30 cubic yard Roll-Off via the Contractor’s PSS Customer Service Team. Contractor 

shall charge and the City agrees to pay the rate set forth in Schedule A for any Roll-Off 

load heavier than the eight-ton limit, provided Contractor notifies the City within three 

(3) business days of an overweight load. Otherwise, there will be no additional charge 

for over-limit loads. Additional pulls will be charged to the City per the then-current 

rates in Schedule A. 

 

(c) Contractor will provide special collection services daily at designated locations during 

the City's annual fall and spring cleanup. Six (6) forty-cubic-yard roll-off containers 

will be provided to the City for each such annual fall and spring cleanup where only 

residential Bulky Waste will be collected. Container and pickup service will be at no 

cost to the City. Such fall and spring clean-ups shall not exceed two (2) weeks each and 

number of roll-off container pulls shall not exceed 72 for each clean-up. The City will 

be charged the current applicable rate in Schedule A for any load heavier than the 

eight-ton limit, provided Contractor notifies the City within three (3) business days of 

an overweight load. Otherwise, there will be no additional charge for over-limit loads. 

Additional pulls will be charged to the City at the then-current rate in Schedule A. 

Contractor shall have no obligation to haul any roll-off that contains construction, 

commercial, or industrial waste. The City will be requested to remove such waste from 

the roll-off. If the City is unable to remove the waste, Contractor has the right to 

transport and dispose of the roll-off contents at the applicable rate for such waste type. 

 

Sec. 2-3-6. – Collection Operations. 

 

A. Hours of Operation:  Collection of Residential Waste and Light Commercial Waste shall 

begin no earlier than 7:00 A.M. and may not extend beyond 6:00 P.M. Collection of Commercial 

Waste or Industrial Waste shall begin no earlier than 6:00 A.M. and may not extend beyond 6:00 

P.M. No collections shall be made on Sunday. 

B. Routes of Collection: Collection routes shall be established by the Contractor as reasonably 

approved by City. City shall provide Contractor with maps of the City containing sufficient 

detail for Contractor to design collection routes. Contractor shall provide to the City route maps 

for approval by the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

C. Holidays: The following are holidays for purposes of this Ordinance: 

 



Page 13 

 

 

New Year's Day Labor Day Thanksgiving Day 

Independence Day Memorial Day Christmas Day 

 

Contractor may decide to observe any or all of the above-mentioned holidays by suspension or 

collection service on the holiday, but the Contractor is responsible for providing make-up 

collection for residential routes that occur on specified holidays. Make-up days are the next 

business day following the holiday and every remaining route day scheduled for that week will 

be pushed a day. 

 

D. Complaints: Customer complaints shall be directed by the City to Contractor, and Contractor 

shall promptly resolve any complaint based on the nature of the complaint. Contractor shall be 

responsible for maintaining a log of complaints based on the information provided to Contractor 

by the City, and shall provide the City, on a monthly basis, with copies of all complaints 

indicating the date and hour of the complaint, nature of the complaint, and the manner and timing 

of its resolution. Any alleged missed pickups will be investigated and, if such allegations are 

verified, Contractor shall arrange for collection on the next business day after receipt of such 

complaint. If the missed pickup is a result of Customer related acts or omissions, the City shall 

take appropriate action to cause such Customer to subsequently properly set out such Waste. 

 

E. Collection Equipment: Contractor, at its sole cost and expense, agrees to furnish, all trucks, 

equipment, machines, and labor which are reasonably necessary to adequately, efficiently, and 

properly collect and transport Waste from Customers serviced by Contractor in accordance with 

this Ordinance. 

 

F. Disposal: The Contractor shall deliver Waste collected to a duly permitted Disposal Site 

operated in compliance with rules stipulated by the applicable state agency and/or the U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency. 

 

G. Spillage: The Contractor shall not be responsible for scattered Refuse unless the same has 

been caused by Contractor, in which case all scattered Refuse shall be picked up immediately by 

Contractor. 

 

H. Vicious Animals: Employees of the Contractor shall not be required to expose themselves to 

the dangers of vicious animals in order to accomplish Refuse collection service. Contractor shall 

immediately notify the City, in writing, of such condition and of his inability to make collection. 

 

I. Protection From Scattering: Each Contractor vehicle shall be equipped with a cover which 

may be net with mesh not greater than one and one-half (1-1/2) inches, or tarpaulin, or fully 

enclosed metal top to prevent leakage, blowing or scattering of refuse onto public or private 

property. 

 

J. Point of Contact.   All dealings and contacts between Contractor and the City shall be 

directed between Public Sector Solutions Manager of Contractor, or such other individual 

identified by Contractor, and the Contract Administrator designated by the City. 

 

 



Page 14 

 

 

Sec. 2-3-7. – Billing. 

 

(a) City shall provide billing and bill collection services for Residential Units. Within twenty-one 

(21) days of the end of each month during which collection services are provided by 

Contractor hereunder, Contractor shall submit to the City an invoice setting forth sums due by 

the City to Contractor for services rendered for the prior month. The City shall notify, in 

writing, and request that Contractor suspend services to any Residential Unit Customer that 

has failed to pay the City for Waste or Recyclables collection services, and Contractor may 

suspend service to such delinquent Customer until notified by the City to resume such 

services. The City’s franchise, billing, or administrative fees, if any, will not be included in the 

Contractor’s invoices to the City for services provided to Residential Units. The City shall 

include in its bills sent directly to Residential Units any City franchise, billing, or 

administrative fees and shall retain those fees.  

 

(b) Contractor shall provide billing and bill collection services for all Commercial and Industrial 

Unit Customers including Light Commercial Customers, that use Polycarts, Dumpsters, 

Compactors, or Roll-Off Bins. Within 21 days of the end of each month during which 

collection services are provided by Contractor hereunder, Contractor shall submit an invoice to 

each Commercial and Industrial Customer. 

 

(a) Contractor shall include in its invoices to the Customer the City’s franchise fee 

of ten percent (10%) (“Franchise Fee”) for Commercial and Light Commercial 

Customers that use Polycarts or Dumpsters, along the City’s franchise fee of 15 

percent (15%) for Industrial Compactors or Roll-Offs. The Franchise Fee 

payments actually received by Contractor from Customers shall be paid by the 

Contractor to the City within thirty (30) days after the last day of the month of 

Contractor’s actual receipt of such monies. The rates set forth in Schedule A 

for Commercial, Light Commercial, and Industrial Units include the City’s 

Franchise Fee. The rates set forth in Schedule A for Residential Units DOES 

NOT include the City’s 10% franchise fee. The Franchise Fee shall not be 

added to and/or be assessed upon any state or local sales tax or other 

governmental fees, such as the state of Texas disposal fee, or the Franchise Fee 

itself. 

(b) Invoices sent to Commercial, Light Commercial and Industrial Unit Customers 

by Contractor shall be paid within thirty (30) days after receipt of such invoice 

by Customer or in accordance with each individual contract between Customer 

and Contractor, if any. All past due invoices shall bear interest at the highest 

rate permitted by law. Contractor may suspend service to any Customer that is 

delinquent in payment directly to Contractor. If Contractor suspends service to 

a Customer for failure to timely pay Contractor’s invoices, Contractor has the 

right to charge a service reactivation fee and/or finance charges or late payment 

fees if such service to the Customer is reinstated. 

 

 

 

 



Page 15 

 

 

Sec. 2-3-8. – Modification to rates. 

 

A. CPI Adjustment. Base Rates for services may be adjusted annually by eighty-five percent 

(85%) of the average monthly percentage increase that the Consumer Price Index, US City 

Average for All Urban Consumers, Garbage and Trash, Not Seasonally Adjusted, Base Period 

December 1983 = 100 (published by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics, Consumer 

Price Index) (the “C.P.I.”) has increased over the 12 most recently published months. The C.P.I. 

published on the first Monday prior to the end of June (or the first business day thereafter if such 

Monday is a Federal Holiday) shall be used to determine the monthly percentage increase 

change. The average will be determined by calculating the percentage increase change in the CPI 

each month during the applicable 12-month period. Once that average is determined, then the 

average increase change for the 12- month period for the prior year will be subtracted and that 

sum will be multiplied by 85%. The product shall be the CPI adjustment component of the 

annual modification to Base Rates. In the event the U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor 

Statistics ceases to publish the C.P.I., the parties hereto agree to substitute another equally 

authoritative measure of change in the purchasing power of the U.S. dollar as may be then 

available so as to carry out the intent of this provision. The percentage increase change shall be 

multiplied by 85% and the product thereof shall be the “CPI Adjustment Component” of the 

annual modification to Base Rates. 

 

B. Fuel Adjustment. Base Rates may be adjusted by 15% of the average percentage increase or 

decrease in the price of compressed natural gas determined by the Energy Information 

Administration of the US Department of Energy (“EIA/DOE”)’s Natural Gas Commercial Price-

Texas Index during the applicable 12-month time period. The average will be computed by 

calculating the percentage change in the EIA/DOE price each month during the applicable 12-

month period. Once that average is determined, then the average change for the 12-month period 

during the prior year will be subtracted and that sum will be multiplied by 15%. product thereof 

shall be the fuel adjustment component” of the annual modification to Base Rates. 

 

C. Additional Adjustments. Contractor may also be entitled to an increase in Base Rates from 

time to time during the term of this Agreement to offset any substantiated change in conditions 

which increase the Contractor’s costs, including but not limited to, increases in disposal costs, 

increases in landfill fees, changes in the ordinances under which the Contractor is to operate, or 

changes in federal, state or local laws, rules or regulations. Documentation of such increases 

shall be submitted to the City upon the City’s request. 

 

Sec. 2-3-9. – Franchisee Insurance Requirements. 

 

Contractor shall procure and maintain insurance against claims for injuries to persons or 

damages to property, which may arise from or in conjunction with the performance of the work 

hereunder by the Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees, or subcontractors. The City 

shall be named as an additional insured under the policies, except for workers’ compensation, 

and shall have coverage for liability assumed under an insured contract. Contractor shall provide 

the City with a certificate of insurance reflecting the City’s additional insured status and agreeing 

to give the City at least 30 days’ written notice in case of policy termination. The cost of such 

insurance shall be borne by the Contractor. 



Page 16 

 

 

 

Minimum Limits of Insurance: 

Type of Coverage Per Occurrence Minimum Aggregate Minimum 

Workers Compensation 

Employer’s Liability 

Statutory 
$500,000 

As required by law 

Commercial General Liability $1,000,000 $1,000,000 

Auto Liability 
Bodily Injury 
Property Damage 

$1,000,000 

$1,000,000 
$  500,000 

$1,000,000 

Umbrella Liability Policy $2,000,000 $2,000,000 

 

 

Sec. 2-3-10. – License and Taxes. 

 

Contractor shall obtain at its sole expense all licenses and permits required by the City  and 

the State and shall maintain same in full force and effect. 

 

Sec. 2-3-11 – Performance Bond. 

 

 The Contractor shall furnish a performance bond as security for the faithful 

performance of this Ordinance. Said performance bond will be in the amount of 

$20,000 and will be renewed on an annual basis. The Contractor shall pay premiums 

for the bond. A certificate from the surety showing that the bond premiums are paid 

in full shall accompany the bond. Such certificate shall be submitted to the City with 

the bond on an annual basis. The surety on the bond shall be a duly authorized 

corporate surety authorized to do business in the State of Texas. 

Sec. 2-3-12. – Applicability of state law. 

 

The provisions of this Chapter are adopted under Texas Health and Safety Code Chapters 361, 363, and 

364. 

 

(a) The regulations promulgated in this chapter cover all aspects of municipal solid waste 

management under the authority of the State and are based primarily on the stated purpose 

of Vernon Texas Statue and Codes, Health and Safety Code ch. 361, as amended, hereafter 

referred to as the Texas Solid Waste Disposal Act. The owner or operator of a municipal 

solid waste landfill (MSWLF) facility shall comply with any other applicable federal rules, 

laws, regulations or other requirements. 

 

(b) All permits, including any special provisions therein, issued by the applicable State 

Department shall remain in force after the effective date of the ordinance from which this 

article is derived. To the extent that a standard has been changed by this article, the 

permittee may continue to operate under standards contained in previously issued permits, 

except for those requirements mandated by EPA 40 C.F.R. §§ 257 and 258, as amended, 

which implement certain requirements of subtitle D of the Resource Conservation and 



Page 17 

 

 

Recovery Act (RCRA). For those Federally mandated requirements, the permittee is under 

an obligation to apply for a change to his permit in accordance with Federal and State law, 

as applicable, to incorporate the required standard. Timely submission of a request for a 

permit change qualifies the owners or operators of existing MSWLF units for interim 

status. MSWLF facility owners or operators with interim status are treated as having been 

issued a permit modification or amendment until the Executive Director makes a final 

determination on the permit modification request or the commission makes a final 

determination on the permit amendment request. Facility owners or operators with interim 

status must comply with the requirements of this article upon the effective date of this 

article. 

 

Sec. 2-3-13. – Enforcement. 

 

The provisions of this Chapter shall be enforced by the Director of Public Works or his duly appointed 

representative, and it shall be unlawful for any person to interfere with or hinder the Director of Public 

Works or his duly appointed representative in the exercise of his duties under this chapter. 

Notwithstanding any provisions contained herein to the contrary, the Director of Public Works or his 

duly appointed representative are hereby granted the authority to issue citations to persons violating any 

provision of this article. 

 

Sec. 2-3-14. – Offense. 

 

(a)    Any person violating or failing to comply with any provision or requirement of this article, who 

continues to violate or fails to comply with same, shall also be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and, 

upon conviction thereof, shall be fined in an amount not to exceed $2,000.00, such offenses listed herein 

being violations of the health and safety ordinance of the City. A separate offense shall be deemed 

committed upon each day during or on which a violation or failure to comply occurs or continues to 

occur. This section shall be in addition to and cumulative of the provisions for abatement by the City of 

any nuisance created by the violation of this ordinance and the charging of the cost of abatement of said 

nuisance against the owner of the property. 

 

(b)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, any violation of any provision of this chapter which constitutes an 

immediate danger or threat to the health, safety and welfare of the public may be enjoined in a suit 

brought by the City for such purpose. 

 

(c)    In addition to any other remedies or penalties contained herein, the City may enforce the provisions 

of this article pursuant to the applicable provisions of Vernon Texas Statues and Codes, Local 

Government Code Ch.54, which chapter provides for the enforcement of municipal ordinances. 

 

(d)    Allegation and evidence of a culpable mental state is not required for the proof of an offense 

defined by this chapter. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 18 

 

 

Sec. 2-3-15. – Schedules. 

SCHEDULE A 

(Base Rates) 

 
RESIDENTI

AL UNITS 

FREQUENCY OF 

COLLECTION 

Base 

RAT

E 

1- WM Provided 96 Gallon Waste Cart - Curbside 2x week $ 21.06 

1- WM Provided 96 Gallon Recycle Cart - Curbside 1x week Included 

Household Hazardous Waste Collection - At Your Door Unlimited Included 

Brush Waste (6 CY Allowance) - Curbside 2x year Included 

Bulk Waste (Fall & Spring Cleanup) - Convenience Station 2x year Included 

Each Additional WM 96 Gal Cart (Trash or Recycle) -- $ 8.55 

Pink Tag/Sticker --    $              
1.80  

*Residential Unit rates and charges DO NOT include any current or future City mandated franchise, administrative, or billing fee. 

 

LIGHT COMMERCIAL UNIT TRASH COLLECTION RATES PER 

CONTAINER PER MONTH 
 

Container Size / Type 1XWK 2XWK 3XWK 4XWK 5XWK 6XWK EXTRA PU 

Poly Cart PU (1 Cart) $ 24.98 $ 49.84 -- -- -- -- -- 

Poly Cart PU (2 Carts) $ 49.84 $ 99.89 -- -- -- -- -- 

Poly Cart PU (3 Carts) $ 74.92 $ 149.84 -- -- -- -- -- 

Poly Cart PU (4 Carts) $ 99.89 $ 199.77 -- -- -- -- -- 

 

 
COMMERCIAL UNIT TRASH COLLECTION RATES PER CONTAINER 

PER MONTH 
 

Container Size / Type 1XWK 2XWK 3XWK 4XWK 5XWK 6XWK EXTRA 

PU 

2 Yard FEL Container $ 49.36 $ 98.72 $148.09 $197.98 $246.24 $246.31 $ 49.36 

3 Yard FEL Container $ 74.03 $ 125.87 $22.13 $296.16 $370.21 $310.99 $ 74.03 

4 Yard FEL Container $ 83.91 $ 197.44 $296.16 $394.90 $493.90 $592.60 $ 83.91 

6 Yard FEL Container $ 113.28 $ 251.74 $444.25 $592.32 $740.41 $887.86 $ 113.28 

8-Yard FEL Container $ 167.83 $ 335.65 $503.47 $641.82 $839.12 $984.24 $ 167.83 

10 Yard FEL Container $ 246.66 $ 493.57 $740.41 $987.15 $1,233.94 $1,492.28 $ 246.66 

 

COMMERCIAL UNIT RECYCLING COLLECTION RATES PER 

CONTAINER PER MONTH 
 

Container Size / Type 1XWK 2XWK 3XWK 4XWK 5XWK 6XWK EXTRA 

PU 

2 Yard FEL Container $ 95.16 $ 190.32 -- -- -- -- $ 95.16 

3 Yard FEL Container $ 108.34 $ 216.67 -- -- -- -- $ 108.34 

4 Yard FEL Container $ 144.62 $ 289.24 -- -- -- -- $ 144.62 

6 Yard FEL Container $ 216.93 $ 433.86 -- -- -- -- $ 216.93 

8-Yard FEL Container $ 289.24 $ 578.49 -- -- -- -- $ 289.24 

10 Yard FEL Container $ 362.14 $ 724.28 -- -- -- -- $ 362.14 



Page 19 

 

 

 

INDUSTRIAL UNIT ROLL-OFF COLLECTION RATES 

 

Container Size / Type Collection Rate 

20 Yard (Open-Top) $ 503.17 

30 Yard (Open-Top) $ 545.73 

40 Yard (Open-Top) $ 572.15 

 

Roll-Off Delivery (One Time) $ 100.00 

Roll-Off Rental Fee (Per Month) $                              150.00 

Roll-Off Rental Fee (Per Day) $ 5.00 

*Each Additional 40 Yard (Open-Top) Pull for 

Fall/Spring Cleanup  

  $                                

503.17 
 

Container Size / Type Collection Rate 

20 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

30 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

32 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

34 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

35 Yard (Compactor) $ 484.07 

40 Yard (Compactor) $ 597.58 

42 Yard (Compactor) $ 597.58 

 

Compactor Rental Fee (Per Month) NEGOTIATED 

Disposal Type I Landfill (Per Ton) $ 39.00 

*All Rates and charges (except Residential Unit rates) INCLUDE any current or future City mandated franchise, administrative, or billing fee. 



Page 20 

 

 

SCHEDULE B 

City Facilities Services and Equipment 

 

 

Facility Name Address Container Size Container Type Service Frequency 

Red Horse Park 1100 North Blvd. 3 YD SEL Trash 2x week 

Public Works Yard 265 Kitty Hawk 8 YD FEL Recycle 1x week 

Public Works Yard 266 Kitty Hawk 4 YD FEL Trash 1x week 

City Hall 2150 Universal City Blvd. 8 YD FEL Trash 2x week 

Olympia Hills Golf Course 12900 Mt. Olympus 8 YD (2 total) FEL Trash 2x week 

Olympia Hills Golf Course 12901 Mt. Olympus 8 YD FEL Recycle 1x week 

Cimarron Park 368 Wagon Crossing 96 Gal (4 total) Polycart(s) 2x week 

Universal City Library 100 Northview 3 YD FEL Trash 2x week 

Northview Park 100 Randolph Plaza Dr. 96 Gal (4 total) Polycart(s) 2x week 

Animal Shelter 134 Athenian Dr. 6 YD FEL 2x week 



Page 21 

 

 

SCHEDULE C 

 



Page 22 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 23 

 

 

 

 



Page 24 

 

 

 

 



Page 25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page 26 

 

 

 



Page 27 

 

 

 



Page 28 

 

 

 

 



Page 29 

 

 

 

At Your Door Special Collection is a service of Waste Management. Collection services will be provided by a properly 

licensed/permitted subsidiary of Waste Management. ©WM Curbside, LLC. All rights reserved. At Your Door and At Your Door 

Special Collection are service marks of WM Intellectual Property Holdings, LLC. 2017-046 

 

 

 

 

  



Page 30 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE AGREEMENT 

 



REVENUES CURRENT BUDGET QTR 3 FY2021 YTD ACTUAL  BUDGET BALANCE 
 % of 

Budget 

GOLF COURSE 2,524,400.00 683,359.73        1,735,533.84     788,866.16 68.75%

GENERAL FUND 13,946,889.00             2,957,791.05     13,389,935.10   556,953.90 96.01%

DEBT SERVICE 2,175,494.00 383,347.44        2,187,294.88     (11,800.88) 100.54%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00 (2,576,453.85)    (1,005,792.05)    3,329,877.05 -43.28%

UTILITY 12,102,758.00             2,442,490.28     7,328,277.86     4,774,480.14 60.55%

STORMWATER 705,793.00 168,330.50        637,983.19        67,809.81 90.39%

TOTAL REVENUES 33,779,419.00            4,058,865.15     24,273,232.82  9,506,186.18 71.86%

- - - - 

EXPENSES

GOLF COURSE 2,523,287.88 568,900.75        1,640,996.06     882,291.82 65.03%

GENERAL FUND 13,663,978.98             2,758,998.76     9,942,430.28     3,721,548.70 72.76%

DEBT SERVICE 2,155,220.50 - 301,210.25        1,854,010.25 13.98%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00 (2,924,907.99)    (282,596.38)       2,606,681.38 -12.16%

UTILITY 12,102,574.00             2,126,968.34     5,456,507.47     6,646,066.53 45.09%

STORMWATER 705,793.00 130,301.02        834,003.15        (128,210.15) 118.17%

TOTAL EXPENSES 33,474,939.36            2,660,260.88     17,892,550.83  15,582,388.53 53.45%

- - - - 

TOTAL NET INCOME(LOSS) 304,479.64 1,398,604.27     6,380,681.99     (6,076,202.35) 

NET INCOME (LOSS)

GOLF COURSE 1,112.12 114,458.98        94,537.78          (93,425.66) 

GENERAL FUND 282,910.02 198,792.29        3,447,504.82     (3,164,594.80) 

DEBT SERVICE 20,273.50 383,347.44        1,886,084.63     (1,865,811.13) 

CAPITAL PROJECTS - 348,454.14        (723,195.67)       723,195.67 

UTILITY 184.00 315,521.94        1,871,770.39     (1,871,586.39) 

STORMWATER - 38,029.48          (196,019.96)       196,019.96 

TOTAL NET INCOME(LOSS) 304,479.64 1,398,604.27     6,380,681.99     (6,076,202.35) 

- - - - 

TOTAL REVENUES

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY

Quarter 3 - Summary (April,May,June)

TAB D



REVENUES
CURRENT BUDGET APRIL FY2021 YTD ACTUAL

 BUDGET 

BALANCE 
 % of Budget  

GOLF COURSE 2,524,400.00               246,091.27       1,298,265.47     1,226,134.53      51.43%

GENERAL & ADMIN 729,000.00                  (4,734.21)           4,670.80             724,329.20          0.64%

COURSE & GROUNDS 1,045,000.00               173,054.13        852,477.08        192,522.92          81.58%

PRO SHOP 53,900.00                    7,386.47            32,918.01          20,981.99            61.07%

RANGE 45,000.00                    9,101.65            52,811.78          (7,811.78)             117.36%

FOOD & BEVERAGE 651,500.00                  61,283.23          355,387.80        296,112.20          54.55%

GENERAL FUND 13,946,889.00            627,338.79       11,059,482.84  2,887,406.16      79.30%

TAX REVENUE 11,244,481.00             217,969.88        9,129,426.15     2,115,054.85      81.19%

LICENSE/PERMITS/FEES 1,030,000.00               118,029.03        878,278.02        151,721.98          85.27%

FINES 1,100,000.00               122,199.64        746,339.43        353,660.57          67.85%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 160,000.00                  168,839.14        223,611.82        (63,611.82)           139.76%

DONATIONS/CONTRIBUTIONS 410,000.00                  301.10               6,730.85             403,269.15          1.64%

GRANTS 2,408.00                      -                      75,096.57          (72,688.57)           3118.63%

DEBT SERVICE 2,175,494.00               127,782.48       2,187,294.88     (11,800.88)           100.54%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00               (858,817.95)      (1,005,792.05)   3,329,877.05      -43.28%

UTILITY 12,102,758.00            806,529.49       5,740,032.16     6,362,725.84      47.43%

WATER DEVELOPMENT 3,974,049.00               411,068.08        3,028,398.59     945,650.41          76.20%

SEWER DEVELOPMENT 4,027,943.00               335,088.39        2,330,764.60     1,697,178.40      57.86%

UTILITY FEES & RENTS 551,655.00                  55,745.70          360,561.41        191,093.59          65.36%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 3,549,111.00               4,627.32            20,307.56          3,528,803.44      0.57%

STORMWATER 705,793.00                  54,560.14          524,173.97        181,619.03          74.27%

WATER REVENUE 638,770.00                  54,533.67          380,688.18        258,081.82          59.60%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 66,023.00                    26.47                 143,485.79        (77,462.79)           217.33%

DONATIONS/CONTRIBUTIONS 1,000.00                      -                      -                      1,000.00              0.00%

TOTAL REVENUES 33,779,419.00            1,003,484.22    19,803,457.27  13,975,961.73    58.63%

EXPENSES

GOLF COURSE 2,523,287.88               206,320.55       1,278,415.86     1,244,872.02      50.66%

GENERAL & ADMIN 562,064.00                  36,642.19          211,251.56        350,812.44          37.58%

COURSE & GROUNDS 981,826.74                  75,430.19          525,277.63        456,549.11          53.50%

CARTS 134,158.98                  5,418.25            44,546.76          89,612.22            33.20%

PRO SHOP 161,002.11                  17,360.28          94,101.18          66,900.93            58.45%

RANGE 7,500.00                      -                      300.38                7,199.62              4.01%

FOOD & BEVERAGE 576,736.05                  65,882.89          344,806.60        231,929.45          59.79%

MARKETING 100,000.00                  5,586.75            58,131.75          41,868.25            58.13%

GENERAL FUND 13,663,978.98            890,571.12       8,074,002.64     5,589,976.34      59.09%

ADMINISTRATION 1,846,062.08               (14,350.55)        1,026,795.85     819,266.23          55.62%

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 870,517.41                  59,600.37          397,631.42        472,885.99          45.68%

FINANCE 556,173.14                  70,447.06          341,388.50        214,784.64          61.38%

MUNICIPAL COURT 273,738.27                  19,453.63          148,241.65        125,496.62          54.15%

JUVENILE CASE MANAGEMENT 57,389.92                    4,147.55            29,248.19          28,141.73            50.96%

GENERAL SERVICES 1,418,854.45               92,832.51          771,008.92        647,845.53          54.34%

PARKS & RECREATION 820,043.83                  26,901.11          262,731.77        557,312.06          32.04%

POLICE 3,771,700.81               270,393.13        2,213,908.55     1,557,792.26      58.70%

FIRE 2,475,261.07               262,361.73        1,522,976.91     952,284.16          61.53%

VEHICLE EQUIPMENT MAINT 212,986.53                  22,540.38          123,452.65        89,533.88            57.96%

April 2021

TOTAL REVENUES

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY

April 2021



ANIMAL SHELTER 545,297.74                  50,494.33          337,676.29        207,621.45          61.93%

LIBRARY 335,185.73                  25,749.87          173,199.59        161,986.14          51.67%

GOLF COURSE -                                -                      385,248.83        (385,248.83)        0.00%

PROMOTION-DEVELOPMENT 100,000.00                  -                      -                      100,000.00          0.00%

OTHER SOURCES/USES 380,768.00                  -                      340,493.52        40,274.48            89.42%

DEBT SERVICE 2,155,220.50               -                      301,210.25        1,854,010.25      13.98%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00               (974,969.33)      (282,596.38)       2,606,681.38      -12.16%

UTILITY 12,102,574.00            465,697.51       3,795,236.64     8,307,337.36      31.36%

PUBLIC WORKS 1,336,317.00               73,071.67          560,815.68        775,501.32          41.97%

ADMINISTRATION 286,780.00                  22,753.59          155,842.84        130,937.16          54.34%

WATER DEVELOPMENT 2,619,306.00               109,041.72        1,323,793.50     1,295,512.50      50.54%

SEWER DEVELOPMENT 2,562,616.00               260,830.53        1,230,144.90     1,332,471.10      48.00%

DEBT SERVICE 1,470,444.00               -                      275,864.26        1,194,579.74      18.76%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 3,827,111.00               -                      248,775.46        3,578,335.54      6.50%

STORMWATER 705,793.00                  33,064.77          736,766.90        (30,973.90)           104.39%

STORMWATER ENGINEERING 505,793.00                  33,064.77          237,056.90        268,736.10          46.87%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 200,000.00                  -                      499,710.00        (299,710.00)        249.86%

TOTAL EXPENSES 33,474,939.36            620,684.62       13,903,035.91  19,571,903.45    41.53%

TOTAL NET INCOME(LOSS) 304,479.64                  382,799.60       5,900,421.36     (5,595,941.72)     

April 2021



REVENUES
CURRENT BUDGET MAY FY2021 YTD ACTUAL

 BUDGET 

BALANCE 
 % of Budget  

GOLF COURSE 2,524,400.00               198,156.32       1,496,421.61     1,027,978.39      59.28%

GENERAL & ADMIN 729,000.00                  83.91                 4,754.71             724,245.29          0.65%

COURSE & GROUNDS 1,045,000.00               120,099.91        972,576.90        72,423.10            93.07%

PRO SHOP 53,900.00                    7,848.50            40,766.51          13,133.49            75.63%

RANGE 45,000.00                    7,413.10            60,224.79          (15,224.79)           133.83%

FOOD & BEVERAGE 651,500.00                  62,710.90          418,098.70        233,401.30          64.17%

GENERAL FUND 13,946,889.00            925,468.14       11,984,950.98  1,961,938.02      85.93%

TAX REVENUE 11,244,481.00             354,507.80        9,483,933.95     1,760,547.05      84.34%

LICENSE/PERMITS/FEES 1,030,000.00               92,189.08          970,467.10        59,532.90            94.22%

FINES 1,100,000.00               86,188.68          832,528.11        267,471.89          75.68%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 160,000.00                  278,202.62        501,814.44        (341,814.44)        313.63%

DONATIONS/CONTRIBUTIONS 410,000.00                  114,379.96        121,110.81        288,889.19          29.54%

GRANTS 2,408.00                      -                      75,096.57          (72,688.57)           3118.63%

DEBT SERVICE 2,175,494.00               127,782.48       2,187,294.88     (11,800.88)           100.54%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00               (858,817.95)      (1,005,792.05)   3,329,877.05      -43.28%

UTILITY 12,102,758.00            806,529.49       5,740,032.16     6,362,725.84      47.43%

WATER DEVELOPMENT 3,974,049.00               411,068.08        3,028,398.59     945,650.41          76.20%

SEWER DEVELOPMENT 4,027,943.00               335,088.39        2,330,764.60     1,697,178.40      57.86%

UTILITY FEES & RENTS 551,655.00                  55,745.70          360,561.41        191,093.59          65.36%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 3,549,111.00               4,627.32            20,307.56          3,528,803.44      0.57%

STORMWATER 705,793.00                  54,560.14          524,173.97        181,619.03          74.27%

WATER REVENUE 638,770.00                  54,533.67          380,688.18        258,081.82          59.60%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 66,023.00                    26.47                 143,485.79        (77,462.79)           217.33%

DONATIONS/CONTRIBUTIONS 1,000.00                      -                      -                      1,000.00              0.00%

TOTAL REVENUES 33,779,419.00            1,253,678.62    20,927,081.55  12,852,337.45    61.95%

EXPENSES

GOLF COURSE 2,523,287.88               181,171.26       1,459,587.12     1,063,700.76      57.84%

GENERAL & ADMIN 562,064.00                  (50,474.03)        160,777.53        401,286.47          28.60%

COURSE & GROUNDS 981,826.74                  70,733.34          596,010.97        385,815.77          60.70%

CARTS 134,158.98                  84,222.66          128,769.42        5,389.56              95.98%

PRO SHOP 161,002.11                  19,134.49          113,235.67        47,766.44            70.33%

RANGE 7,500.00                      -                      300.38                7,199.62              4.01%

FOOD & BEVERAGE 576,736.05                  52,292.30          397,098.90        179,637.15          68.85%

MARKETING 100,000.00                  5,262.50            63,394.25          36,605.75            63.39%

GENERAL FUND 13,663,978.98            878,856.34       8,952,858.98     4,711,120.00      65.52%

ADMINISTRATION 1,846,062.08               107,315.82        1,134,111.67     711,950.41          61.43%

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 870,517.41                  58,678.43          456,309.85        414,207.56          52.42%

FINANCE 556,173.14                  37,062.53          378,451.03        177,722.11          68.05%

MUNICIPAL COURT 273,738.27                  20,572.80          168,814.45        104,923.82          61.67%

JUVENILE CASE MANAGEMENT 57,389.92                    4,096.34            33,344.53          24,045.39            58.10%

GENERAL SERVICES 1,418,854.45               94,242.67          865,251.59        553,602.86          60.98%

PARKS & RECREATION 820,043.83                  63,223.49          325,955.26        494,088.57          39.75%

POLICE 3,771,700.81               253,527.01        2,467,435.56     1,304,265.25      65.42%

FIRE 2,475,261.07               148,359.95        1,671,336.86     803,924.21          67.52%

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY

TOTAL REVENUES

May 2021

May 2021



VEHICLE EQUIPMENT MAINT 212,986.53                  15,275.90          138,728.55        74,257.98            65.13%

ANIMAL SHELTER 545,297.74                  47,518.49          385,194.78        160,102.96          70.64%

LIBRARY 335,185.73                  23,435.48          196,635.07        138,550.66          58.66%

GOLF COURSE -                                -                      385,248.83        (385,248.83)        0.00%

PROMOTION-DEVELOPMENT 100,000.00                  -                      -                      100,000.00          0.00%

OTHER SOURCES/USES 380,768.00                  5,547.43            346,040.95        34,727.05            90.88%

DEBT SERVICE 2,155,220.50               -                      301,210.25        1,854,010.25      13.98%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00               (974,969.33)      (282,596.38)       2,606,681.38      -12.16%

UTILITY 12,102,574.00            487,856.14       4,283,092.78     7,819,481.22      35.39%

PUBLIC WORKS 1,336,317.00               80,959.04          641,774.72        694,542.28          48.03%

ADMINISTRATION 286,780.00                  19,408.65          175,251.49        111,528.51          61.11%

WATER DEVELOPMENT 2,619,306.00               76,847.18          1,400,640.68     1,218,665.32      53.47%

SEWER DEVELOPMENT 2,562,616.00               12,223.05          1,242,367.95     1,320,248.05      48.48%

DEBT SERVICE 1,470,444.00               -                      275,864.26        1,194,579.74      18.76%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 3,827,111.00               298,418.22        547,193.68        3,279,917.32      14.30%

STORMWATER 705,793.00                  60,784.17          797,551.07        (91,758.07)           113.00%

STORMWATER ENGINEERING 505,793.00                  60,784.17          297,841.07        207,951.93          58.89%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 200,000.00                  -                      499,710.00        (299,710.00)        249.86%

TOTAL EXPENSES 33,474,939.36            633,698.58       15,511,703.82  17,963,235.54    46.34%

TOTAL NET INCOME(LOSS) 304,479.64                  619,980.04       5,415,377.73     (5,110,898.09)     

May 2021



REVENUES
CURRENT BUDGET JUNE FY2021 YTD ACTUAL

 BUDGET 

BALANCE 
 % of Budget  

GOLF COURSE 2,524,400.00               239,112.14       1,735,533.84     788,866.16          68.75%

GENERAL & ADMIN 729,000.00                  3,081.39            7,836.10             721,163.90          1.07%

COURSE & GROUNDS 1,045,000.00               158,652.76        1,131,229.75     (86,229.75)           108.25%

PRO SHOP 53,900.00                    6,908.06            47,674.57          6,225.43              88.45%

RANGE 45,000.00                    7,482.41            67,707.20          (22,707.20)           150.46%

FOOD & BEVERAGE 651,500.00                  62,987.52          481,086.22        170,413.78          73.84%

GENERAL FUND 13,946,889.00            1,404,984.12    13,389,935.10  556,953.90          96.01%

TAX REVENUE 11,244,481.00             643,856.36        10,127,790.31   1,116,690.69      90.07%

LICENSE/PERMITS/FEES 1,030,000.00               135,078.65        1,105,545.75     (75,545.75)           107.33%

FINES 1,100,000.00               96,855.67          929,383.78        170,616.22          84.49%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 160,000.00                  515,833.34        1,017,647.78     (857,647.78)        636.03%

DONATIONS/CONTRIBUTIONS 410,000.00                  13,360.10          134,470.91        275,529.09          32.80%

GRANTS 2,408.00                      -                      75,096.57          (72,688.57)           3118.63%

DEBT SERVICE 2,175,494.00               127,782.48       2,187,294.88     (11,800.88)           100.54%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00               (858,817.95)      (1,005,792.05)   3,329,877.05      -43.28%

UTILITY 12,102,758.00            829,431.30       7,328,277.86     4,774,480.14      60.55%

WATER DEVELOPMENT 3,974,049.00               403,326.99        3,793,772.08     180,276.92          95.46%

SEWER DEVELOPMENT 4,027,943.00               347,513.62        3,013,389.39     1,014,553.61      74.81%

UTILITY FEES & RENTS 551,655.00                  77,347.01          495,353.17        56,301.83            89.79%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 3,549,111.00               1,243.68            25,763.22          3,523,347.78      0.73%

STORMWATER 705,793.00                  59,210.22          637,983.19        67,809.81            90.39%

WATER REVENUE 638,770.00                  59,196.42          494,464.66        144,305.34          77.41%

INTEREST/OTHER REVENUE 66,023.00                    13.80                 143,518.53        (77,495.53)           217.38%

DONATIONS/CONTRIBUTIONS 1,000.00                      -                      -                      1,000.00              0.00%

TOTAL REVENUES 33,779,419.00            1,801,702.31    24,273,232.82  9,506,186.18      71.86%

EXPENSES

GOLF COURSE 2,523,287.88               181,408.94       1,640,996.06     882,291.82          65.03%

GENERAL & ADMIN 562,064.00                  32,979.43          193,756.96        368,307.04          34.47%

COURSE & GROUNDS 981,826.74                  64,141.22          660,152.19        321,674.55          67.24%

CARTS 134,158.98                  11,863.97          140,633.39        (6,474.41)             104.83%

PRO SHOP 161,002.11                  15,597.51          128,833.18        32,168.93            80.02%

RANGE 7,500.00                      -                      300.38                7,199.62              4.01%

FOOD & BEVERAGE 576,736.05                  51,564.31          448,663.21        128,072.84          77.79%

MARKETING 100,000.00                  5,262.50            68,656.75          31,343.25            68.66%

GENERAL FUND 13,663,978.98            989,571.30       9,942,430.28     3,721,548.70      72.76%

ADMINISTRATION 1,846,062.08               114,465.35        1,248,577.02     597,485.06          67.63%

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 870,517.41                  56,319.92          512,629.77        357,887.64          58.89%

FINANCE 556,173.14                  41,158.11          419,609.14        136,564.00          75.45%

MUNICIPAL COURT 273,738.27                  12,010.43          180,824.88        92,913.39            66.06%

JUVENILE CASE MANAGEMENT 57,389.92                    4,102.74            37,447.27          19,942.65            65.25%

GENERAL SERVICES 1,418,854.45               105,829.98        971,081.57        447,772.88          68.44%

PARKS & RECREATION 820,043.83                  70,455.06          396,410.32        423,633.51          48.34%

POLICE 3,771,700.81               301,891.13        2,769,326.69     1,002,374.12      73.42%

FIRE 2,475,261.07               185,718.36        1,857,055.22     618,205.85          75.02%

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY

TOTAL REVENUES

June 2021

June 2021



VEHICLE EQUIPMENT MAINT 212,986.53                  14,776.79          153,505.34        59,481.19            72.07%

ANIMAL SHELTER 545,297.74                  42,465.09          427,659.87        117,637.87          78.43%

LIBRARY 335,185.73                  27,928.29          224,563.36        110,622.37          67.00%

GOLF COURSE -                                -                      385,248.83        (385,248.83)        0.00%

PROMOTION-DEVELOPMENT 100,000.00                  -                      -                      100,000.00          0.00%

OTHER SOURCES/USES 380,768.00                  12,450.05          358,491.00        22,277.00            94.15%

DEBT SERVICE 2,155,220.50               -                      301,210.25        1,854,010.25      13.98%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 2,324,085.00               (974,969.33)      (282,596.38)       2,606,681.38      -12.16%

UTILITY 12,102,574.00            1,173,414.69    5,456,507.47     6,646,066.53      45.09%

PUBLIC WORKS 1,336,317.00               70,991.34          712,766.06        623,550.94          53.34%

ADMINISTRATION 286,780.00                  20,031.82          195,283.31        91,496.69            68.10%

WATER DEVELOPMENT 2,619,306.00               170,268.09        1,570,908.77     1,048,397.23      59.97%

SEWER DEVELOPMENT 2,562,616.00               205,273.53        1,447,641.48     1,114,974.52      56.49%

DEBT SERVICE 1,470,444.00               -                      275,864.26        1,194,579.74      18.76%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 3,827,111.00               706,849.91        1,254,043.59     2,573,067.41      32.77%

STORMWATER 705,793.00                  36,452.08          834,003.15        (128,210.15)        118.17%

STORMWATER ENGINEERING 505,793.00                  36,452.08          334,293.15        171,499.85          66.09%

CAPITAL PROJECTS 200,000.00                  -                      499,710.00        (299,710.00)        249.86%

TOTAL EXPENSES 33,474,939.36            1,405,877.68    17,892,550.83  15,582,388.53    53.45%

TOTAL NET INCOME(LOSS) 304,479.64                  395,824.63       6,380,681.99     (6,076,202.35)     

June 2021



Revenues:

   PROPERTY TAX- 64,759.72$                                       

  SALES TAX - 114,967.72$                                    

Expenses:

COURT 10,095.80$                                       Court Case Management

POLICE 13,004.82$                                       Vehicle Maintenance

GOLF 5,721.76$                                         Cart Repairs

Expenses: 974,969.33$                                    Continuation of E Aviation

Revenues: 806,529.49$                                    

Expenses: 30,131.75$                                       New Water Dept Truck

STORMWATER

Expenses: 10,110.34$                                       Various Engineering Services

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY

HIGHLIGHTS

CAPITAL PROJECTS

UTILTY FUND

April 2021



Revenues:

   PROPERTY TAX- (11,023.97)$                                     

  SALES TAX - 298,523.41$                                    

Expenses:

ADMINISTRATION 16,106.06$                                       Internet Exp.  Reallocation

POLICE 6,500.00$                                         SWAT Services

PARKS 38,332.50$                                       New Vehicle

Expenses: 1,661,230.64$                                 E Aviation

Revenues: 758,814.40$                                    

Expenses: 298,418.22$                                    Water Tank Repainting

STORMWATER

Expenses: 39,202.31$                                       Engineering Services

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY

May 2021

HIGHLIGHTS

CAPITAL PROJECTS

UTILTY FUND



Revenues:

   PROPERTY TAX- 135,436.07$                                    

  SALES TAX - 501,333.52$                                    

Expenses:

PARKS 41,349.10$                                       UC Park restroom repairs

POLICE 33,815.00$                                       New Explorer

Expenses: 110,466.20$                                    E Aviation

Revenues: 829,431.30$                                    

Expenses: 80,352.03$                                       Water Meters and Repairs

STORMWATER

Expenses: 4,699.30$                                         Vehicle Repairs and Maintenance

CITY OF UNIVERSAL CITY

June 2021

HIGHLIGHTS

CAPITAL PROJECTS

UTILTY FUND




